
 
 

 
 
 

DYDD LLUN, 19EG GORFFENNAF, 2021 
 
 

AT:  HOLL AELODAU’R BWRDD GWEITHREDOL 
 
 
 
YR WYF DRWY HYN YN EICH GALW I FYNYCHU RHITH-GYFARFOD 
O’R BWRDD GWEITHREDOL I’W GYNNAL AM 10.00 Y.B. AR DDYDD 
LLUN, 26AIN GORFFENNAF, 2021 ER MWYN CYFLAWNI'R 
MATERION A AMLINELLIR AR YR AGENDA SYDD YNGHLWM 
 
 

 
 

Wendy Walters 

PRIF WEITHREDWR 

 

 

Swyddog Democrataidd: Rhian Lloyd 

Ffôn (llinell uniongyrchol): 01267 224088 

E-bost: rmlloyd@sirgar.gov.uk 

 

Wendy Walters Prif Weithredwr, Chief Executive, 
Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin. SA31 1JP 
County Hall, Carmarthen. SA31 1JP 

 

 

 

Pecyn Dogfennau



 
 

   Y BWRDD GWEITHREDOL  
AELODAETH - 10 AELOD 

Cynghorydd Portffolio 

Cynghorydd Emlyn 
Dole 
 

Arweinydd 
Arweinyddiaeth a Strategaeth Gorfforaethol; Cadeirydd y Bwrdd Gweithredol; 
Cynrychioli’r Cyngor ar CLlLC; Datblygu Economaidd; Yn cynrychioli’r Cyngor 
ar Ranbarth Dinas Bae Abertawe; Cydweithio; Marchnata a'r Cyfryngau; 
Penodi Aelodau o'r Bwrdd Gweithredol; Penderfynu ar bortffolios ABG; 
Cyswllt â`r Prif Weithredwr; Bwrdd Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus 

Cynghorydd Mair 
Stephens 
 

Dirprwy Arweinydd  

Rheolwr Busnes y Cyngor; Adnoddau Dynol; Rheoli Perfformiad; Archwilio 
Cymru; Hyfforddiant; T.G.Ch; T.I.C. Cynllunio strategol 

Cynghorydd Glynog 
Davies 
 

Addysg a Phlant 
Ysgolion; Gwasanaethau Plant; Anghenion Addysgol Arbennig; Diogelu; 
Cartrefi Seibiant; Gwasanaeth Gwella Ysgolion Integredig Rhanbarthol; 
Dysgu Oedolion yn y Gymuned; Gwasanaethau Ieuenctid; Gwasanaethau 
Arlwyo Ysgolion, Aelod Arweiniol dros Blant a Phobl Ifanc; Llysgennad 
Ieuenctid 

Cynghorydd Ann 
Davies 
 

Cymunedau a Materion Gwledig  

Materion Gwledig ac Ymgysylltu â'r Gymuned; Diogelwch Cymunedol; Yr 
Heddlu; Deddf Gwrthderfysgaeth a Diogelwch 2015; Trechu Tlodi; Llesiant 
Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol; Cyswllt y Trydydd Sector; Cydraddoldeb, 
Strategaeth Newid yn yr Hinsawdd. 

Cynghorydd Hazel 
Evans 
 

Amgylchedd  

Sbwriel; Clanhau Strydoedd; Gwasanaethau Priffyrdd aThrafnidiaeth; Cynnal 
a Chadw Tiroedd; Gwasanaethau Adeiladu; Gofalu; Clanhau Adeiladau; 
Cynlluniau Argyfwng; Llifogydd, Hawliau Tramwy Cyhoeddus. 

Cynghorydd Linda 
Evans 
 

Tai  
Tai - Cyhoeddus; Tai - Preifat; Heneiddio'n dda 

Cynghorydd Peter 
Hughes Griffiths 
 

Diwylliant, Chwaraeon a Thwristiaeth  

Llysgennad Cynghorau Tref a Chymuned; Datblygu'r Iaith Gymraeg; 
Theatrau; Chwaraeon; Canolfannau Hamdden; Amgueddfeydd; Llyfrgelloedd; 
Parciau Gwledig; Twristiaeth. 

Cynghorydd Philip 
Hughes 
 

Diogelu'r Cyhoedd  

Safonau Masnach; Iechyd yr Amgylchedd. Gorfodaeth Amgylcheddol; 
Gorfodaeth Cynllunio; Gwastraff Didrwydded; Gwasanaethau Parcio; Bio 
amrywiaeth 

Cynghorydd David 
Jenkins 
 

Adnoddau 
Cyllid a’r Gyllideb; Effeithlonrwydd Corfforaethol; Rheoli Eiddo / Asedau; 
Caffael; Budd-daliadau Tai; Refeniw; Gwasanaethau Statudol (Crwneriaid, 
Cofrestryddion, Etholiadol, Arglwydd Rhaglaw); Hyrwyddwr y Lluoedd Arfog; 
Canolfannau Cyswllt a Chanolfannau Gwasanaethau Cwsmeriaid 

Cynghorydd Jane 
Tremlett 
 

Gofal Cymdeithasol ac Iechyd  

Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol i Oedolion; Gofal Preswyl; Gofal Cartref; 
Anableddau Dysgu; Iechyd Meddwl; Cyswllt / Cydweithio / Integreiddio â’r 
GIG; Gwasanaethau Arlwyo Cartefi Gofal, Pencampwr Gofalwyr; Llysgennad 
Anabledd; Pencampwr Gofal Dementia 



 
 

 
  

 

A G E N D A   
 

1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB   

2. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANNAU PERSONOL   

3. LLOFNODI FEL COFNOD CYWIR COFNODION CYFARFOD Y 
BWRDD GWEITHREDOL A GYNHALWYD AR Y 5ED 
GORFFENNAF, 2021  

5 - 8 

4. CWESTIYNAU Â RHYBUDD GAN YR AELODAU   

4 .1 CWESTIWN GAN Y CYNGHORYDD ROB JAMES I'R 
CYNGHORYDD EMLYN DOLE, ARWEINYDD 

  

 Mae dau adroddiad wedi’u cynnal i Adran Gynllunio’r 
Awdurdod - un gan Archwiliad Cymru a’r ail gan ymgynghorwyr 
allanol. Credir bod yr adroddiadau'n feirniadol iawn o 
berfformiad yr Adran. A all Arweinydd y Cyngor amlinellu pryd 
y bydd canfyddiadau'r adroddiadau hyn yn cael eu cyhoeddi? 
 

 

5. CWESTIYNAU A RHYBYDD GAN Y CYHOEDD   

6. RHAGOLWG CYLLIDEB REFENIW 2022/23 I 2024/25  9 - 26 

7. ADRODDIAD BLYNYDDOL CYFARWYDDWR STATUDOL 
GWASANAETHAU CYMDEITHASOL  

27 - 88 

8. POLISI YMDDYGIAD GWRTHGYMDEITHASOL A THORRI 
AMODAU TENANTIAETH 2021  

89 - 106 

9. PORTH TYWYN - SAFLE DATBLYGU 4  107 - 116 

10. UNRHYW FATER ARALL Y GALL Y CADEIRYDD OHERWYDD 
AMGYLCHIADAU ARBENNIG BENDERFYNU EI YSTYRIED YN 
FATER BRYS YN UNOL AG ADRAN 100B(4)(B) O DDEDDF 
LLYWODRAETH LEOL, 1972.  

 

11. GORCHYMYN I'R CYHOEDD ADAEL Y CYFARFOD   

 NI DDYLID CYHOEDDI’R ADRODDIAD SY’N YMWNEUD Â’R MATER 
CANLYNOL GAN EI FOD YN CYNNWYS GWYBODAETH EITHRIEDIG 
FEL Y’I DIFFINIWYD YM MHARAGRAFF 14 O RAN 4 O ATODLEN 12A I 
DDEDDF LLYWODRAETH LEOL 1972 FEL Y’I DIWYGIWYD GAN 
ORCHYMYN LLYWODRAETH LEOL (MYNEDIAD AT WYBODAETH) 
(AMRYWIO) (CYMRU) 2007. OS BYDD Y BWRDD, AR ÔL CYNNAL 
PRAWF LLES Y CYHOEDD YN PENDERFYNU YN UNOL Â’R DDEDDF, I 
YSTYRIED Y MATER HYN YN BREIFAT, GORCHMYNNIR I’R CYHOEDD 
ADAEL Y CYFARFOD YN YSTOD TRAFODAETH O’R FATH.  

 

 

12. GWERTHU TIR YM MHARC PENCRUG, LLANDEILO  117 - 124 



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

BWRDD GWEITHREDOL 
 

5 GORFFENNAF 2021 
 

YN BRESENNOL: Y Cynghorydd E. Dole (Cadeirydd) 
 

Y Cynghorwyr:  
C.A. Davies, G. Davies, H.A.L. Evans, L.D. Evans, P.M. Hughes, P. Hughes-Griffiths, 
D.M. Jenkins, L.M. Stephens a J. Tremlett 
 
Hefyd yn bresennol: 
Cynghorwyr D.M. Cundy a J.D. James 
 
Roedd y Swyddogion canlynol yn bresennol yn y cyfarfod: 
W. Walters, Prif Weithredwr; 
C. Moore, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol; 
J. Morgan, Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Cymunedau; 
G. Morgans, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Addysg a Phlant  
J. Jones, Pennaeth Adfywio  
L.R. Jones, Pennaeth Gweinyddiaeth a'r Gyfraith; 
P.R. Thomas, Prif Weithredwr Cynorthwyol (Rheoli Pobl a Pherfformiad); 
A. Williams, Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Amgylcheddol a Gwastraff; 
I.R. Llewelyn, Rheolwr Blaen-gynllunio  
D. Hockenhull, Rheolwr y Cyfryngau a Marchnata; 
L. Jenkins, Swyddog Cefnogi Bwrdd Gweithredol; 
S. Rees, Cyfieithydd Ar Y Pryd; 
R. Lloyd, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd. 
M.S. Davies, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd. 
Rhith-Gyfarfod: 10:00yb - 11:00yb 

 
1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB 

Ni chafwyd ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb. 
 

2. DATGAN BUDDIANNAU PERSONOL 
Ni ddatganwyd unrhyw fuddiannau personol. 
 

3. COFNODION - 21 MEHEFIN 2021 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL lofnodi cofnodion cyfarfod y Bwrdd 
Gweithredol a gynhaliwyd ar 21 Mehefin 2021 yn gofnod cywir. 
 

4. CWESTIYNAU Â RHYBUDD GAN YR AELODAU 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau â rhybudd wedi cael eu cyflwyno 
gan yr Aelodau. 
 

5. CWESTIYNAU Â RHYBUDD GAN Y CYHOEDD 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau wedi dod i law gan y cyhoedd. 
 

6. ADRODDIAD TERFYNOL GRŴP GORCHWYL A GORFFEN Y PWYLLGOR 
CRAFFU - DIOGELU'R CYHOEDD A'R AMGYLCHEDD – CYNLLUN DIOGELU 
RHAG CAMFANTEISIO ARIANNOL (FESS) Y GWASANAETHAU SAFONAU 
MASNACH. 

Tudalen 5

Eitem Rhif  3



 

 

 

Gan gyfeirio at gofnod 5 cyfarfod y Pwyllgor Craffu – Diogelu'r Cyhoedd a'r 
Amgylchedd oedd wedi ei gynnal ar 10 Mehefin 2019, bu'r Bwrdd Gweithredol yn 
ystyried adroddiad terfynol Grŵp Gorchwyl a Gorffen y Pwyllgor Craffu - Diogelu'r 
Cyhoedd a'r Amgylchedd a gyflwynwyd gan Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor, y Cynghorydd 
John James. Sefydlwyd y grŵp i adolygu Cynllun Diogelu rhag Camfanteisio 
Ariannol y Gwasanaethau Safonau Masnach.   
Prif nodau'r grŵp ar gyfer yr adolygiad oedd archwilio a oedd y portffolio o atal 
troseddau, cefnogi dioddefwyr a gweithgareddau addysg a gyfunwyd o fewn y 
Cynllun Diogelu rhag Camfanteisio Ariannol yn darparu strategaeth effeithiol i 
helpu i frwydro yn erbyn twyll a hyrwyddo amcanion iechyd a llesiant corfforaethol 
yn sgil Deddf Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Llesiant (Cymru) 2014 a Deddf 
Llesiant Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol 2015. 
 
Diolchodd y Bwrdd Gweithredol i'r Pwyllgor, Swyddogion a'r Cadeirydd am eu 
gwaith ar yr adroddiad ac ychwanegodd yr Aelod o'r Bwrdd Gweithredol dros Ofal 
Cymdeithasol ac Iechyd y byddai'n sicrhau bod ei ganfyddiadau'n cael eu rhannu 
â'r tîm diogelu, yn enwedig gan fod llawer o sgamiau'n targedu'r henoed.  
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL gymeradwyo adroddiad terfynol ac 
argymhellion adolygiad Grŵp Gorchwyl a Gorffen y Pwyllgor Craffu - 
Diogelu'r Cyhoedd a'r Amgylchedd o Gynllun Diogelu rhag Camfanteisio 
Ariannol y Gwasanaethau Safonau Masnach. 
 

7. LLOFNODWR I'R SIARTER CREU LLEOEDD 
Rhoddodd y Bwrdd Gweithredol ystyriaeth i adroddiad a oedd yn gofyn am 
gymeradwyaeth i'r Cyngor fod yn llofnodwr i Siarter Creu Lleoedd Cymru. Roedd 
yr adroddiad yn amlinellu cyd-destun a diben Creu Lleoedd, ei rôl a'i statws o ran 
polisi cynllunio cenedlaethol a lleol, yn ogystal â chynnwys y Siarter. Datblygwyd y 
Siarter gan Gomisiwn Dylunio Cymru a Llywodraeth Cymru mewn cydweithrediad 
â Phartneriaeth Creu Lleoedd Cymru, sy'n cynnwys rhanddeiliaid sy'n cynrychioli 
ystod eang o ddiddordebau a sefydliadau sy'n gweithio yn yr amgylchedd 
adeiledig a naturiol. Roedd yn adlewyrchu ymrwymiad cyfunol ac unigol y 
sefydliadau hyn i gefnogi datblygiad lleoedd o safon uchel ledled Cymru er budd ei 
chymunedau. 
Roedd Pwyllgor Cynllunio'r Cyngor wedi argymell cymeradwyo'r adroddiad yn ei 
gyfarfod ar 24 Mehefin 2021.  
Mewn ymateb i bryder y gallai'r cyfeiriad at 'Iaith' o dan y pennawd 'Hunaniaeth' 
fod yn fwy cadarn, dywedwyd y byddai polisïau'r Cyngor yn sicrhau bod hyn yn 
wir. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL ARGYMELL I'R CYNGOR fod Siarter Creu 
Lleoedd Cymru yn cael ei chymeradwyo a bod Cyngor Sir Caerfyrddin yn 
llofnodwr.  
 

8. RHAGLEN SGILIAU A THALENTAU, BARGEN DDINESIG BAE ABERTAWE  
Rhoddodd y Bwrdd Gweithredol ystyriaeth i adroddiad a oedd yn manylu ar Achos 
Busnes arfaethedig ar gyfer y rhaglen Sgiliau a Thalentau, o fewn y gyfres o 9 
prosiect Bargen Ddinesig Bae Abertawe, a fyddai'n darparu ateb hyfforddiant 
sgiliau a fyddai'n cynnig y seilwaith sgiliau cynaliadwy â'r gwerth gorau i ddatblygu 
gweithlu'r rhanbarth ar gyfer y dyfodol. Ystyriwyd bod datblygu rhaglen sgiliau 
gynhwysfawr a blaengar yn hanfodol i lwyddiant cyffredinol portffolio'r Fargen 
Ddinesig. Byddai'r rhaglen yn cysoni'r ddarpariaeth sgiliau sydd ar gael a’r bylchau 

Tudalen 6



 

 

 

sgiliau a nodwyd ag anghenion diwydiant ar draws y rhanbarth, yn ogystal â'r wyth 
prosiect arloesol sy’n rhan o'r Fargen Ddinesig ac sy'n cefnogi twf gwerth 
ychwanegol gros, cynhyrchiant a buddsoddiad busnes yn y rhanbarth. 
Tynnodd yr Arweinydd sylw at y ffaith mai hwn oedd y prosiect cyntaf o dan broses 
adolygu Gateway Bargen Ddinesig Bae Abertawe a oedd wedi cael y 'golau 
gwyrdd’. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL ARGYMELL I'R CYNGOR  
 

8.1 gymeradwyo'r achos busnes arfaethedig ar gyfer y Rhaglen Sgiliau a 
Thalentau a'i gyflwyno'n ffurfiol i'r Swyddfa Rheoli Portffolio, yn unol â 
Chynllun Gweithredu'r Fargen Ddinesig, er mwyn cymeradwyo cyllid y 
Fargen Ddinesig; 

 
8.2 rhoi awdurdod dirprwyedig i'r Pennaeth Adfywio, ar y cyd â'r Aelod o'r 

Bwrdd Gweithredol - yr Arweinydd, wneud unrhyw fân newidiadau i'r 
achos busnes yn ôl yr angen, er mwyn cael cymeradwyaeth ar lefel 
llywodraeth leol, ranbarthol a chenedlaethol. 

 
9. UNRHYW EITEMAU ERAILL Y GALL Y CADEIRYDD, OHERWYDD 

AMGYLCHIADAU ARBENNIG, BENDERFYNU Y DYLID EU HYSTYRIED YN 
FATERION BRYS YN UNOL AG ADRAN 100B(4)(B) O DDEDDF 
LLYWODRAETH LEOL 1972. 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd unrhyw eitemau eraill o fater brys. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
________________________    __________________ 
Y CADEIRYDD                                               Y DYDDIAD 
 
 
 

Tudalen 7



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 
 

  

Bwrdd Gweithredol 

26 Gorffennaf 2021 

 

RHAGOLWG CYLLIDEB REFENIW 

2022/23 i 2024/25 

Yr argymhellion / penderfyniadau allweddol sydd eu hangen: 

 
1. Mae’r Bwrdd Gweithredol yn derbyn rhagolwg cychwynnol y gyllideb ac yn ystyried y lefel 

yng nghodiadau Treth y Cyngor a lefel effeithlonrwydd ysgolion y mae’n eu hystyried yn 
briodol ar gyfer datblygu’r Cynllun Ariannol Tymor Canolig. 
 

2. Bwrdd Gweithredol yn cymeradwyo’r dull arfaethedig i adnabod yr arbedion gofynnol. 
 

3. Bwrdd Gweithredol yn nodi’r dull arfaethedig i’r Ymgynghoriad Cyllideb. 

 

Y Rhesymau:  
I ddarparu trosolwg i’r Bwrdd Gweithredol o’r materion cyllidebol a’r rhagolygon ar gyfer y 
blynyddoedd nesaf. 

 

Angen ymgynghori â'r Pwyllgor Craffu perthnasol            AMHERTHNASOL   

Angen i’r Bwrdd Gweithredol wneud penderfyniad           OES  

Angen i'r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad                              NAC OES  

 

YR AELOD O'R BWRDD GWEITHREDOL SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:-  
Y Cyng. David Jenkins 

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth 
Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol 
 
Enw Cyfarwyddwr y 
Gwasanaeth: 
Chris Moore 
 
Awdur yr Adroddiad: 
Randal Hemingway 

Swyddi: 
 
 
Cyfarwyddwr y 
Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol 
 
 
Pennaeth Gwasanaethau 
Ariannol 

Rhifau ffôn: 01267 224120 
 
Cyfeiriadau e-bost: 
CMoore@sirgar.gov.uk 

 
 
 
RHemingway@sirgar.gov.uk 
 

 

 
  

Tudalen 9

Eitem Rhif  6

mailto:CMoore@sirgar.gov.uk


 
 

  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Executive Board  

26th July 2021 
 

 

REVENUE BUDGET OUTLOOK 
2022/23 to 2024/25 

 

 

The report appraises members of the current financial outlook and updates our current 
financial model covering the next three financial years.  

The report outlines the proposals for taking forward the budget preparation for the three year 
period. 

  

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES  

 

Tudalen 10



 
 

  

IMPLICATIONS 
 

 

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this 
report : 

 

Signed:        C Moore                                                         Director of Corporate Services 

 

Policy, Crime 
& Disorder 
and 
Equalities 
 

Legal  Finance  ICT  Risk 
Management 
Issues  

Staffing 
Implications 

Physical 
Assets   

YES NONE  YES  NONE  NONE  

 

NONE  

 

NONE  

 

1. Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities 

The budget is being prepared having regard for the Council’s Corporate Strategy. 

  

Equalities Impact Assessments will be undertaken on budget proposals in order to 
consider and assess the potential impact with respect to protected characteristic groups 
and the Welsh language. All budget proposals considered to have an impact on front line 
services will undergo a period of public consultation. The Equalities Impact Assessments 
will be further developed following consideration of possible mitigation measures to reduce 
the impact once the responses and findings of the budget consultation have been 
received. 

 

2. Finance   

Council Fund  
The report provides an updated view of the Budget outlook for 2022/23, together with 
indicative figures for the 2023/24 and 2024/25 financial years.  

The financial model tabled above will be updated as and when more information becomes 
available, including the provisional and final settlement from Welsh Government. 
Provisional settlement is expected October 2021. 

 

 

Tudalen 11



 
 

  

 

CONSULTATIONS 

 

 

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below 

 

Signed:                  C Moore                                                Director of Corporate Services                                  

 

1. Scrutiny Committee 

Consultation with Scrutiny Committees will be undertaken during the budget process. 

2.Local Member(s)   

N/A 

3.Community / Town Council  

All budget proposals considered to have an impact on front line services will undergo a period 
of public consultation before the final budget is set.  

4.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations   

Consultation with Staff Side Representatives and other organisations will be undertaken and 
results will be reported during the budget process. 

 
 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 

List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 

 

Title of Document 

 

File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection  

2021/22 3 Year 
Revenue Budget 

 County Hall, Carmarthen 
 

 

 
 

Tudalen 12



DETAILED REPORT  

 1 

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

EXECUTIVE BOARD 
   

26th July 2021 
 

REVENUE BUDGET OUTLOOK  2022/23 to 2024/25 
 

HEAD OF SERVICE & DESIGNATION. 
 
R Hemingway, Head of Financial Services 

DIRECTORATE 
 
Corporate 
Services 

TELEPHONE NO. 
 
01267 224886 

AUTHOR &  DESIGNATION  
 

R Hemingway, Head of Financial Services 

DIRECTORATE 
 

Corporate 
Services 

TELEPHONE NO 
 

01267 224886 

 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 
The purpose of this report is to: 

1.1. Appraise members on the current financial outlook 

1.2. Update  our current financial  model covering the next three years; 

1.3. Outline proposals for taking forward the budget preparation for the 
three year period. 

 
 

2. BACKGROUND 

2.1. The current three year Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) was 
agreed by Council on 3rd March 2021 and was based on estimates of 
known commitments at that time,  and formulated in the context of the 
Welsh Government (WG) financial settlement for 2021/22, with 
estimates used for years 2 and 3 of the plan.   

2.2. The 2021/22 budget was set in context of an easing - but highly 
uncertain – public health situation. Whilst it attempted to address the 
immediate unavoidable effects of the pandemic on the Authority’s 
finances over the coming year, it was to some extent mitigated by the 
assurance of continued financial support via Hardship funding in the 
short term. Nevertheless the MTFP required a combination of budget 
savings and council tax increases to bridge the financial gap over the 
planning period.  

Tudalen 13



DETAILED REPORT  

 2 

2.3. The overall financial standing of the Authority has been maintained at 
a prudent level. This approach enabled us to act swiftly in the early 
phases of the pandemic, responding to the needs of residents and 
businesses and making critical decisions in advance of Welsh 
Government financial support, which was extremely important to the 
residents of the county at that time.    

In addition to existing reserve balances earmarked for specific 
purposes such as insurance or commited capital schemes, the 
authority recognised specific risks and costs associated with the 
COVID19 recovery and has set aside one-off funding for resetting 
services and to fund support measures for the local economy. It was 
also possible to add to our Council Fund, which currently stands at 
3.1% of our net budget. In recent years we have made limited use of 
such reserves to support ongoing expenditure. 

 

3. CURRENT POSITION 

COVID-19  

3.1. Nearly 18 months into the global pandemic,  COVID19 continues to 
dominate public sector finances over the near term. The combination 
of additional health spending, reduced tax revenues and the 
unprecedented financial scale and duration of the furlough scheme 
have driven up public sector borrowing to £303bn (14.5% of GDP) in 
2020/21– its highest in peacetime Britain and more than five times 
higher than 2019/20.  

3.2. Whilst the pace of both Welsh and UK vaccine rollout has exceeded 
all expectations, a full return to “normal” life remains some way off, 
with the risk of new variants of concern ever present and media 
reports of Welsh social distancing regulations remaining for the 
remainder of 2021. The economy and consequent tax revenues will 
be at a much lower base, with NHS waiting lists for routine operations 
at an all time high and several multiples of pre-pandemic levels. At a 
UK level, HM Treasury will need to put in place measures to address 
borrowing to bring public sector finances more into balance. This will 
inevitably impact upon available WG budgets through the barnett 
consequential. This has already begun to be seen in the approach 
taken by Westminster towards NHS England pay awards as well as 
English schools recovery funding. 

3.3. The timeline to achieve this is however far from clear. Whilst the 
outlook for public finances is undeniably worse as a result of 
COVID19, there may be a gradual transition towards addressing 
public sector borrowing, driven by the need for public sector 
investment to boost economic recovery. 

Tudalen 14



DETAILED REPORT  

 3 

3.4. During 2020/21, the Authority incurred £24m of additional costs and 
£10m of lost income which was met by the WG hardship scheme, 
whist this mechanism is operating until at least September 2021, any 
permanent changes will need to be built into recurrent budgets. It is 
likely that we will need to build some additional costs into recurrent 
budgets as well as consider longer term impact on commercial 
income streams, which could be significant. One service area of note 
is homelessness, where there the cost of provision during the last 
year increased significantly, but was funded by WG.   

BREXIT 

3.5. The first six months of 2021 have seen a number of frictions arising 
from the new trading arrangements with the European Union. These 
have ranged from food export restrictions and fishing rights, staffing 
impacts on farming and hospitality and an acute shortage of HGV 
drivers according to recent media reports. What is clear is that the 
effects were not immediately felt and are taking some time to 
manifest, partially due to the combined effect of COVID19 restrictions. 
Carmarthenshire has already experienced some difficulties with 
recruitment in some areas, believed to be the combined effects of 
Brexit and COVID19. 

3.6. The initial stages of project development and evaluation are 
underway for the Community Renewal Fund and Levelling Up Fund 
respectively, the precursors to the long awaited Shared Prosperity 
Fund. There is much greater decision making vested in Westminster 
rather than Welsh Government, and funding is allocated across the 
UK on a competitive basis. It remains to be seen whether the level of 
grant award in both Carmarthenshire and Wales reduces versus 
historic levels.  

COMPREHENSIVE SPENDING REVIEW 

3.7. The last two years have seen single year Westminster 
Comprehensive Spending Reviews (CSR). A multi year CSR is 
planned over Autumn 2021, which has the potential to shift key dates 
in the latter half of our budget planning process. Early indications are 
this could lead to a provisional settlement date in December, in line 
with last year’s late timetable. 

Given, however, the significant disruption to last year’s MTFP 
development, it is critical that budget development work is started 
early to ensure a thorough and robust process.  

 

Tudalen 15



DETAILED REPORT  

 4 

FUNDING PRIORITIES 

3.8. In April 2021, County Council approved the updated “Moving Forward 
in Carmarthenshire” This document sets strategic priorities and 
aspirations and will underpin the key policy decisions to be taken in 
the development of the Medium Term Financial Plan.  

3.9. Due to public restrictions, last year’s public consultation activities 
were curtailed to online only budget questionnaires and virtual 
member meetings. It is planned that wider public engagement will 
take place for this budget cycle, depending upon the prevailing public 
health restrictions in place. It is proposed that member seminars 
remain as virtual meetings as this format allowed more members to 
participate to get the widest range of views.   

 

4. CURRENT FINANCIAL OUTLOOK 

Budget development always involves assumptions which are refined as the 
situation evolves and information becomes clearer. COVID19 impacts both in 
terms of uncertainty over the possibility of future “variants of concern” until such 
time as worldwide vaccination/herd immunity is realised and the path to more 
balanced public finances. As these uncertainties are unlikely to be resolved 
over the summer, it is recommended that budget development work is begun 
based on the current MTFP parameters as set out in the budget papers agreed 
by Council Council in March 2021. Further details are provided in the 
subsequent paragraphs.  

 

5. FINANCIAL MODEL 

 
The financial model has been extended by one year and so covers the three 
year period up to 2024/25. The most important part for any financial plan or 
model is the underlying assumptions, the current key assumptions being: 

 

 

5.1. For the purposes of our financial outlook, the base model reflects the 
Aggregate External Finance (AEF) increasing by 2.0% each year. 
Service specific grants currently account for around £100 million and 
it is assumed that EITHER any further reductions are contained within 
the AEF reduction above OR that activity/expenditure is reduced in 
line with grant funding.  

There are no signficant planned reductions that officers are aware of, 
however members should note that we are now in a transition phase 
towards the proposed “Shared Prosperity Fund” which will replace 
existing EU funding streams. The bid processes are currently in 

Tudalen 16



DETAILED REPORT  

 5 

progress for the Community Renewal Scheme (revenue schemes) 
and Levelling Up Fund (capital schemes).   

5.2. As for all Local Authorites, the treatment of delegated school budgets 
has a significant impact on the scale of savings proposals across 
every other service area. Our planning assumption is currently that 
schools’ delegated budgets do not have a specific savings target 
applied – this is the budget approach we have taken over the last 
three years, which has protected schools from more than £5m of 
savings that have inevitably fallen across other council services. 
Whilst school balances are now showing a substantial surplus 
position, members should be aware that this is largely due to one off 
recovery funding received very late in the financial year. Whilst 
working to mitigate the impacts of lockdowns on learners, many of our 
schools still have a pressing need to return their budgets to a 
sustainable footing.   

As a consequence of validation for pay and price inflation, it is 
recognised this budget will grow, and that proportionally larger 
savings will need to be found elsewhere.  Should there be new or 
additional pressure put on the budget, for example from a worse than 
planned WG settlement, schools funding would need to be 
reassessed. 

5.3. The MTFP approved by County Council in March 2021 included 
substantial savings in the Education department linked to the 
rationalisation of primary school provision – these savings are 
planned for 2023/24. This would not see an adverse funding outcome 
for delegated budgets, but is instead about capturing the financial 
benefit of an overall more efficient schools system and the support 
services behind it. If this is to be delivered, it is imperative that positive 
progress is made over the coming year.     

5.4. The April 2021 pay settlement for NJC staff remains unknown. The 
Employers offer of 1.5% was quickly rejected by unions. The 
September 2021 Teachers pay award recommended by the 
Independent Welsh Pay Review Body is 1.75% - this is in consultation 
phase at the time of writing. As was the case last year, there are pulls 
in both directions in national negotiations on staffing costs – on one 
hand the recognition and reward for the role which many have played 
in delivering services above and beyond at a time of great need; on 
the other hand there is the need to rebalance public sector finances, 
as seen in the English NHS employers offer as referenced in 
paragraph 3.2 above. Given these opposing forces, the financial 
model maintains the current assumption of 2.5% per annum pay 
growth.  

Commissioned care costs may experience larger than normal 
increases over the MTFP period following the WG plans announced 
to raise care staff pay up to the real living wage, which is currently 

Tudalen 17



DETAILED REPORT  

 6 

6.6% above the national living wage. This will require full funding from 
WG, without which it will represent a substantial pressure on Local 
Authority budgets. Current modelling includes allowances for forecast 
National Living Wage increases only.  

Inflation forecasts remain uncertain. Current year figures are highly 
skewed by the impact of restrictions (and their easing) and short term 
availability of goods, where supply chains have been interrupted by 
new regulations post Brexit and the Suez Canal blockage in March 
2021. With the exception of July 2020, the 12 month Consumer Price 
Index has been below 1% since the start of the pandemic, but 
increased from 0.7% to 2.1% between March and May 2021, the 
largest increase in over a decade. As such assumptions are 
increased to  2.5% for prudence at this stage of budget development.  

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

5.5. The 5 year capital plan was approved by Council in March 2021. 
Alongside revenue budget development work, a review of existing 
and new capital projects will be undertaken to inform future 
development of the five year Capital Programme. It is likely that any 
projects approved for the Levelling Up Fund (see paragrah 3.6 above) 
may require match funding which will need to be identified.  

5.6. An emerging risk to this is the supply and availability of construction 
materials, which could put pressure both on project budgets 
previously approved as well as timelines, particularly where there are 
fixed expenditure deadlines for specific grants.  

5.7. Additionally, members should note that there may be significant 
capital costs associated with the Waste Strategy which are not 
currently included within the Capital programme. Based on the 
experience of other Local Authorities, it is hoped that a substantial 
contribution from Welsh Government can be secured, though this is 
not confirmed. 

5.8. Validation assumptions for the three years have been revisited and 
are currently: 

 
 
 

 Financial Model 

 2021/22 
% 

2022/23 
% 

2023/24 
% 

Expenditure Inflation 2.5 2.5 2.5 

Income Inflation 2.5 2.5 2.5 

Pay Awards 2.5 2.5 2.5 

Employers Pension 
Rates 

0 0 0 

Fuel 2.5 2.5 2.5 

Tudalen 18



DETAILED REPORT  

 7 

Energy Costs 2.5 2.5 2.5 

Capital charges £500k £500k £500k 

Revenue Implications 
of Capital schemes 

£400k £400k £400k 

 

5.9. Service Pressures: 

 
The financial model assumes growth pressures of £5.5m per annum 
for every year. In addition to the normal pressures which might be 
expected, of particular note are the following: 
 

 COVID19 related service expenditure – whist this will no 
doubt reduce it is likely that some working practices will 
change as a result of experiences and will lead to additional 
costs. 

 Commercial income – there may be need to consider any 
possible longer term reductions to income generating 
services such as leisure centres or parking. 

 Waste strategy – as well as capital costs referred to above, 
there will be revenue cost implications of any future changes 
implemented. 

 Decarbonisation – following the climate emergency declared 
by the County Council in February 2019, further actions 
required to meet our commitment to become net zero carbon 
may put additional pressures on capital and revenue budgets. 

 
 

Over the MTFP period, there are likely to be additional funding 
requirements in respect of the City Deal projects. These include both 
interest costs (as it is forecast they will exceed the business rates 
retention deal agreed with WG) and additional staffing costs. These 
will need to addressed within the individual business case appraisals 
before their commencement, and as such it is not anticipated these 
will impact upon 2021/22 budgets.  

5.10. The modelling is based on Council Tax increases in line with the 
MTFP approved in March 2021, being 4.35% in 2022/23, 4.40% in 
2023/24 extended to year 3 purely for planning purposes. 

5.11. Based upon the above assumptions a financial model has been 
constructed (see table below) which highlights the impact of the 
proposed changes, and identifies the likely budget shortfall. 
Comparative figures from the current MTFP are included for 
information. 

  

Tudalen 19



DETAILED REPORT  

 8 

 
 
                                  Summary of Financial Model   
 

 Current MTFP Financial Model 

 2022/23 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2022/23 
£’000  

2023/24 
£’000  

2024/25 
£’000  

Previous Year’s Budget  386,185 396,637 386,185 396,609 407,419 

General Inflation  1,822 2,184 2,278 2,730 2,798 

Pay Inflation  6,287 6,271 6,287 6,271 6,200 

Other  2,052 2,092 1,568 1,642 1,919 

Growth  5,500 5,500 5,500 5,500 5,500 

Original & approved PBB 
Proposals  

-4,644 -4,093 -4,644 -4,093 0 

Net Expenditure  396,637 407,477 396,609 407,419 418,814 

Revenue Settlement  290,517 296,327 290,517 296,327 302,254 

Council Tax Receipts  106,120 111,150 106,092 111,092 116,560 

Shortfall  565 1,115 565 1,240 5,023 

Modelling Council Tax 
Increase 

4.35% 4.40% 4.35% 4.40% 4.40% 

   
 

 

5.12. Key points: 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            

5.12.1.We are looking at requiring cumulative reductions of £15m 
over the three years. As well as additional cost pressures 
brought about by the pandemic, changes in working 
practices have the potential to provide the opportunity for 
some savings. A reduction in staff travel, printing costs and 
possible reduction of the corporate administrative estate 
could deliver valuable efficiency savings at no detriment to 
the quality of service delivery to the public. Clearly given 
the abnormality of the last year, it cannot be taken as a 
reliable benchmark, work is underway to estimate how 
large a contribution this could make towards savings 
targets over the longer term. 

Many savings proposals require substantial lead in time to 
prepare for, or to follow prescribed statutory processes. 
This requires early planning and proactive work several 
years ahead of the implementation date.  

5.12.2.Our budget, in common with all authorities will contain a 
number of expenditure items that are essentially ‘fixed’ 
such as our debt costs, payments to those in receipt of 
council tax reduction support, the cost of levies, insurance 
costs, external audit fees, etc. In terms of managing and 
addressing any reductions we need to exclude these 
budgets. It is proposed that the savings requirements for 

Tudalen 20



DETAILED REPORT  

 9 

each of the financial years be allocated between 
departments as follows, according to controllable budgets: 

 

 

  2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 

Chief Executive 432 443 417 

Schools Delegated Budget 0 0 0 

Education & Children 904 925 872 

Communities 2,471 2,530 2,383 

Corporate Services 180 184 174 

Environment 1,222 1,251 1,178 

  5,209 5,333 5,023 

 
 

5.12.3.The above model, as stated above, is based upon 
increases to the AEF of 2% each year and council tax 
increases of 4.35% in 2022/23 and 4.40% for both 2023/24 
and 2024/25. 

 

6. SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS   

6.1. Any budget forecast has an element of risk and a large degree of 
uncertainty when planning over the medium term, and this is 
particularly so in with the current outlook. 

6.2. Any changes to the assumptions will inevitably be the result of a 
number of factors. The following table identifies the individual impact 
of the main components of the budget: 

 

 

 

Budget element 

 

Movement 

Annual 
Impact 

Pay inflation 1% £2.4m 

General inflation 1% (expenditure 
only) 

£2.3m 

General inflation 1% (income only) -£1.4m 

WG Settlement  1% £2.9m 

Specific Grants 1% £1.0m 

Council Tax  1% £1.0m 

 

Tudalen 21



DETAILED REPORT  

 10 

6.3. The following table illustrates the scale of the impact on departmental 
savings targets in 2021/22 if some of the movements outlined above 
materialised (Tables do not reflect a cumulative effect) : 

 

Department 

1% change in 
WG 

settlement 

 1% change 
in Council 

Tax 
Increase 

 No schools 
protection – i.e. 

increased schools 
efficiencies 

  £'000s  £'000s  £’000s 

Chief Executive +/-241  +/-88  -160 

Schools Delegated Budget 0**  0**  1,925 

Education & Children +/-504  +/-184  -334 

Communities +/-1,378  +/-503  -913 

Corporate Services +/-100  +/-37  -67 

Environment +/-681  +/-249  -452 

  +/-2,905  +/-1,025  0 

 ** Based on assumption that no savings target is applied to school 
budgets 

 

6.4. The Budget modelling will be monitored and refined as the likely 
position becomes clearer. 

 
 

7. TAKING THE WORK FORWARD 

 
There are a number of strands to develop in bringing about change to ensure we 
achieve balanced budgets: 
 

7.1. A continued real and focused drive to achieve efficiency in what we 
do – including business processes, taking advantage of technology 
and reviewing non-employee spend. This year’s work will include a 
renewed focus on common and repetitive spend to identify the scale 
of budget reductions achievable in areas such as print/postage/staff 
travel which have been impacted by COVID19 new working practices. 

7.2. Establishing what is important to members (and other stakeholders) 
in terms of what they wish to prioritise and importantly what is not and 
can be ‘given up’/or reduced, recognising that prioritising in one area 
unavoidably leads to difficult choices elsewhere; 

7.3. Demand management which explores all the drivers of demand for 
our services and asks whether we can reduce or manage that 
demand by other methods and/or by doing things differently – e.g. 

Tudalen 22



DETAILED REPORT  

 11 

earlier intervention in a cycle; changing user expectations of services; 
use of the third sector/other  organisations or alternative delivery 
models etc; 

7.4. Innovation and alternative funding sources – whilst innovation will be 
evident in all the other strands it is felt useful to also have it as 
standalone to allow some free thinking to emerge and understand 
whether that free thinking leads to approaches that may generate 
further avenues for attracting revenue support or generating income. 

7.5. All of the above will involve: 

7.5.1. Consideration of alternative delivery models/providers; 

7.5.2. Acceptance of lower performance/reduction/cessation in 
some areas as an acceptable price to prioritise/protect 
others; 

7.5.3. Consideration of alternative and perhaps as yet untapped 
sources of finance; 

7.5.4. Some analysis of the cost/benefit equation of what we 
currently do and what we would propose to do. 

7.5.5. Council will need to implement measures in 2021/22 to 
increase as far as possible its options in respect of the 
2022/23 budget setting process. The aims of these 
measures would be to partially mitigate the risk of the 
council not achieving a balanced budget for 2022/23 and 
would need to be undertaken following consultation with 
members.  

7.6. In considering the budget proposals, members need to take into 
consideration the requirements of the Wellbeing of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The Act requires that we must carry 
out sustainable development, improving the economic, social 
environmental and cultural well-being of Wales. 

 
 
 

8. BUDGET PREPARATION FOR 2022/23 

 

8.1. The financial model tabled above will be updated as and when more 
information becomes available, key amongst which will be the 
provisional settlement, currently expected from WG in October 2021, 
though subject to the CSR as referenced in paragraph 3.7 above. A 
timetable is provided at Appendix A. 

Tudalen 23



DETAILED REPORT  

 12 

8.2. As part of the current Medium Term Financial Plan, Departments are 
requested to update their efficiency/service rationalisation proposals 
for 2022/23 and 2023/24 and to consider possible areas to target for 
2024/25. Savings development will be led by Department Service 
Directors with review and challenge from:  

- Executive Board Portfolio Member, plus 

- Executive Board Portfolio Member for Resources 

 

Consideration will be given to inclusion of independent challenge to 

further support this process.  

8.3. Officers will continue to refine the budget projections taking account 
of inflation factors, the collection rate and reviewing the potential for 
the  use of reserves etc. 

8.4. Virtual Member seminars on budget proposals to be convened in 
December/January 2022. 

8.5. Public consultation on budget priorities and proposals will take place 
in October – January 2021. Specific consultation methods will need 
to reflect the COVID19 alert level prevailing at the time, but additional 
efforts will be made to engage as widely as possible given the 
circumstances, including the use of virtual meetings, and digital 
communications.  

8.6. Scrutiny Committee consultation in January/February 2021.  

 

9. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 
It is recommended that: 

9.1. The Executive Board receives the initial budget outlook and considers 
the level of Council Tax rises and budget savings that it considers 
appropriate for developing the Medium Term Financial Plan; 

9.2. Executive Board endorse the proposed approach to identifying the 
required savings 

9.3. Executive Board note the proposed approach to the budget 
consultation 

 

Tudalen 24



APPENDIX A 
 

 

Medium Term Financial Planning 

 2022/23 - 2024/25 

Timetable (including consultation & engagement process) 

 
Meeting Date Event / Session Purpose 

 26 July 2021 
 

Executive Board  Budget outlook report  

 Mid October 
2021 

Welsh Government (WG) PROVISIONAL SETTLEMENT 

 October 2021 – 
January 2022 
 

Public Consultation / 
Commercial Rate Payers 
Consultation 

Public consultation survey & events – 
dependent upon Alert Level / prevailing 
restrictions.  

 22 November 
2021 

Executive Board 
 

Budget Strategy report with key data and 
savings proposals 
Launch public consultation 

 December 2021 Member Seminars Departmental Budget Seminars – virtual 
 

 December 2021 
-January 2022 

Scrutiny Committees 
(Budget) 

Scrutiny Budget consultation  

 December 2021 WG 
 

FINAL SETTLEMENT 

 31 January 
2022 
 

Executive Board  Update on Budget, Feedback on 
Consultation, consider final Budget 
proposals  

 22 February 
2022 

Full Council 
 

Final decision on budget and Approval of 
Budget Strategy  

 March 2022 Public communication of 
decisions 

Public awareness of final budget decisions 

 2 March 2022 Full Council Council Tax Setting report and final decision 
on budget  

 

Tudalen 25



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 

 

Cyfarfod y Bwrdd Gweithredol   

26 Gorffennaf 2021 
 

Y Pwnc: 
ADRODDIAD BLYNYDDOL CYFARWYDDWR STATUDOL Y 

GWASANAETHAU CYMDEITHASOL YNGHYLCH PERFFORMIAD Y 
GWASANAETHAU GOFAL CYMDEITHASOL YN SIR GAERFYRDDIN 2020/21  

 

 

Y Pwrpas:  
Mae'n ofynnol yn statudol i'r Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol adrodd yn flynyddol 
wrth y Cyngor ar berfformiad yr ystod gyfan o Wasanaethau Cymdeithasol a'r modd y cânt eu 
darparu, yn ogystal â chynlluniau ar gyfer eu gwella. 
 

Hwn yw'r adroddiad blynyddol gan Gyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol ynghylch 
perfformiad ein Gwasanaethau Gofal Cymdeithasol yn y sir.  Mae'n nodi'r heriau yn ystod 
blwyddyn na welwyd ei thebyg o'r blaen oherwydd COVID-19 ac yn tynnu sylw at y meysydd 
oedd i'w datblygu yn ystod y flwyddyn gyfredol. Mae'n ymwneud â'r perfformiad yn ystod 
2020/21.   
 

Mae'r adroddiad hwn yn rhoi cyfle i'r Tîm Rheoli Corfforaethol/Aelodau gwestiynu'r cynnwys ac 
mae'n rhoi cyfle i'r Cyfarwyddwr Statudol ystyried unrhyw sylwadau a allai fod gan Aelodau 
etholedig ar gyfer y dyfodol. Dylid nodi mai adroddiad drafft yw hwn o hyd a bydd yn cael ei 
brawf ddarllen a'i ddiwygio ymhellach cyn ei gwblhau. 

Yr Argymhellion / Penderfyniadau Allweddol Sydd Eu Hangen: 

Bod adroddiad blynyddol Cyfarwyddwr Statudol y Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol ynghylch 
perfformiad y Gwasanaethau Gofal Cymdeithasol yn Sir Gaerfyrddin, 2020/21 yn cael ei 
gymeradwyo. 

Y Rhesymau:  
Mae'r Cyfarwyddwr o'r farn bod craffu ar yr adroddiad hwn yn wleidyddol yn elfen bwysig yn y 
broses ddatblygu a bydd yn cael ei ddiwygio drwy gydol y gwahanol gamau cyn cyhoeddi'r 
adroddiad hwn yn derfynol yn ystod haf 2021.  

Ymgynghorwyd â'r pwyllgor craffu perthnasol     OES 
Pwyllgor Craffu - Gofal Cymdeithasol ac Iechyd – 7 Gorffennaf 2021  
Pwyllgor Craffu - Addysg a Phlant – 8 Gorffennaf 2021 

Angen i’r Bwrdd Gweithredol wneud penderfyniad OES  
Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad OES  

 

YR AELOD O'R BWRDD GWEITHREDOL SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:- 

Y Cynghorydd J. Tremlett (Deiliad y Portffolio Gofal Cymdeithasol ac Iechyd) 
Y Cynghorydd G. Davies (Deiliad y Portffolio Gwasanaethau Addysg a Phlant) 
 

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth: 

Cymunedau 
 

Enw Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth: 

Jake Morgan 
 

Swyddi: 
 
 

 

Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau 
Cymunedol (Cyfarwyddwr 
Statudol y Gwasanaethau 
Cymunedol 

Rhif ffôn/ Cyfeiriadau E-bost: 
 
 

 

01267 224698 
JakeMorgan@sirgar.gov.uk 
 

 
 

Tudalen 27

Eitem Rhif  7



 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

EXECUTIVE BOARD  
26th July 2021 

 

 

SUBJECT: 

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATUTORY DIRECTOR OF SOCIAL SERVICES 
ON THE PERFORMANCE OF SOCIAL CARE SERVICES IN 

CARMARTHENSHIRE 2020/21 
 

The Annual Report examines each Service area within Social Care and shows how service 
strategies, actions, targets and service risks will be addressed and delivered operationally by 
the service this year based on the approved budget.  

The Annual Report (attached) comprises an overview provided by the Director of Social 
Services, which provides information on how we have performed in 2020/21 and an 
assessment on the future, together with our strategic priorities for 2021/22.   
The Report links closely with the Directorate Business Plans for Community Services and 
Education & Children’s Services departments. 
Following publication of the report to the public (after it has been presented to full Council), 
Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) and Welsh Government will complete their analysis and 
review of the report. There will be a formal meeting with CIW in October to discuss their 
analysis and proposed plan. This will be followed by an Annual Letter to Council in late 
November/early December, confirming their analysis and inspection plan. The process will 
link in closely with the Wales Programme for Improvement and the Annual Letter from the 
Wales Audit Office. 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED ? YES 

 
IMPLICATIONS 

 

 

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this 
report : 

 

Signed:      Jake Morgan                Director of Social Services                             

 

 

Tudalen 28



 

Policy, Crime 
& Disorder 
and 
Equalities 
 

Legal  Finance  ICT  Risk 
Management 
Issues  

Staffing 
Implications 

Physical 
Assets   

YES  YES  YES  YES  YES  YES  YES  

1. Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities 

 

The Annual Report will be an important contribution to the Council’s Improvement Plan. 

2. Legal   

The Annual Report forms an important part of the statutory duties of the Director of Social 
Services: 

“The Director will present to Council, publish and report on an annual statement of plans for 

performance and improvement”. 

3. Finance   

The financial implications are included in the report.  Budget pressures are identified clearly. 

4. ICT  

The PIMS system will be used to provide evidence of the Annual Report.  Comment is made in 
the body of the report as to the need to better integrate Health & Social Care IT.   

5. Risk Management Issues 

Key risks have been addressed in this report with a link to the departmental and corporate risk 
register. 

6. Physical Assets   

Physical assets are included in this report in relation to service delivery. 

7. Staffing Implications 

Workforce is a critical element included in the report.  In particular, the development and retention of social 

workers to ensure that they continue their professional development and remain with Carmarthenshire. 

 

Tudalen 29



 

 

CONSULTATIONS 
 

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below 

 

Signed:     Jake Morgan                    Director of Social Services                                                                                                                                               

 

1. Scrutiny Committee 

The report was considered by the following Scrutiny Committees:- 

 

Social Care & Health Scrutiny Committee held on 7th July 2021 who 

UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED that: 

 the Draft Annual Report of the Statutory Director of Social Services on the Performance of 
Social Care Services in Carmarthenshire 2020/21 be received, 

 the Authority write to Welsh Government requesting a review of the issues experienced in 
care homes during the pandemic. 

 

Education & Children Scrutiny Committee held on 8th July, 2021 who 

RESOLVED that: 

 The Director of Community Services arrange for the Care Leavers Data to be made 
available to the members. 

 The Authority write to the new Minister at Welsh Government in relation to Home 
Education. 

 The report be received. 

 

2.Local Member(s)   

Not applicable. 

3.Community / Town Council  

Not applicable. 

4.Relevant Partners   

Not applicable. 

5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations   

Not applicable. 

EXECUTIVE BOARD PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER(S) AWARE/CONSULTED: 
YES 

 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
THERE ARE NONE  

 

 

Tudalen 30



 

1 
 

 

  

Directors Annual Report 2021/22 

Jake Morgan  

Statutory Director of Social Services at Carmarthenshire 

County Council 

 

April 2021 DRAFT  

 

 

 

 

carmarthenshire.gov.wales 

Tudalen 31



 

2 
 

Contents 
 

Introduction ........................................................................................................................ 3 

Overview of an Unprecedented Year ................................................................................. 5 

Direct Care Provision ....................................................................................................... 18 

Complaints and Compliments .......................................................................................... 21 

Workforce ........................................................................................................................ 22 

Conclusion and Next Steps ............................................................................................. 24 

Departments Management Structure ............................................................................... 27 

Appendix 1 – Statutory Notice March 2020 ..................................................................... 28 

Statutory Notice June 2020 ............................................................................................. 31 

Appendix 2 – CIW Assurance Check February 2021....................................................... 36 

Appendix 3 – Care Home Review .................................................................................... 43 

 

 

Dates of Political meetings  

DMT 15th June  

CMT 17th June  

PEB 28th June 

Scrutiny 7th July SC&H 
8th July C&ED 

Ex Board 26th July  

County Council  15th September  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 32



 

3 
 

Introduction  
 

This is my eighth annual report as Statutory Director of 
Social Services. Although Social Services is only a part of 
my corporate role there is a statutory requirement on me to 
report annually on the council’s Social Service’s functions. 
Appended to this report is the Statutory Notice I issued last 
year. This was issued under the Code of Practice contained 
within the Social Services and Wellbeing act where the 
Director of Social Services has a duty to advise on the 
challenges, risks and circumstances where staff issues affect 
our ability to discharge statutory responsibilities.  

This has, by any measure, been an extraordinarily difficult year. COVID 19 has tested 
every element of our organisation and our ability to discharge our Social Services 
functions. Our priority throughout has been to protect the most vulnerable in the 
community, the elderly and disabled whose health and lives have been so at risk 
because of Covid 19. During this time our teams in adult and children’s social services 
have never faced such challenges and been so needed by our communities. It has 
been a year where the whole of society has recognised the central role Social 
Services functions play in all our lives and the importance of these services in keeping 
children and vulnerable adults safe. The council can be proud of the role its staff have 
played in supporting the most vulnerable.  
 
The whole Country started the year unprepared for the pandemic in every way. It is easy 
to forget the emergency in March and April last year when public health advice felt short 
of to acknowledging the need for PPE in the care sector; When there was rapid discharge 
from hospital into nursing homes wholly unprepared to manage COVID 19 outbreaks and 
where basic protective equipment for staff at risk was nationally auctioned to the highest 
bidder by unscrupulous distributors. At this time vaccination programmes were a distant 
hope and our care staff faced anxiety daily. We all felt frustration at the slow pace of 
guidance change on PPE in relation to social care staff (See my statutory notice pg 33-
34) The consequence of this was that even in June 2020 we were not always able to 
provide the protection to staff in social care that we felt was necessary. The corporate 
and political support in the council and from ADSS Cymru in advocating for action 
nationally was critical in ensuring a change of guidance.  
 
Our partnership with health has strengthened throughout the pandemic with the authority 
leading on the creation of 3 field hospitals in the county and our integrated structure 
adding significant value in ensuring there was a coordinated approach. The role of key 
clinical health staff in supporting the care sector was invaluable. Review and reflection is 
needed locally and nationally on the use of ‘do not resuscitate’ instructions on the elderly 
in care and consideration whether the process used was the one we would want in the 
future. 
 
As a Director you really find out about the strength and values of your team and 
organisation when you face adversity. For 6 months my team met 7 days a week to 
problem solve, manage risk, and support the care sector through the most difficult times it 
has ever faced.  Unwavering support politically and corporately demonstrated the values 
of the organisation where the number one priority was to do whatever we can to best 
protect the most vulnerable. They did a great job and this was confirmed by the  

Tudalen 33



 

4 
 

Inspectorate earlier this year: 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
In the second wave in December the rapid rise of infections led to a total collapse of 
several of our private sector care homes. These homes found themselves with no staff or 
management and sick and frail residents having no one to care for them. In these 
circumstances I was constantly humbled by the lack of hesitation from our staff and 
managers from our in- house service who worked additional shifts in unfamiliar and risky 
environments to keep residents cared for. These staff were supplemented by corporate 
and leisure staff who volunteered to fill gaps where they had every right to simply stay at 
home. With limited family members in homes and overstretched care staff it fell on some 
of these staff to read to and care for the elderly who were frail, vulnerable and in many 
cases sick with COVID 19. We owe these staff a huge debt of gratitude. 
 
In these days of social media comment it is easy to be cynical about ‘the council’ and 
Local Government. However looking back at Christmas Eve 2020 when I had the call that 
a home had collapsed with the whole staff team off with COVID 19 it was ‘the council’ 
and Local Government with our amazing staff who stepped up in these most difficult of 
circumstances. Over this period, I have never been prouder of the care sector and Local 
Government as a whole.  
 
There has been extraordinary work nationally and locally to get us in the position we are 
now. We now have near unlimited protective equipment provided by government free to 
the whole care sector, benefit from the most successful vaccination programme in 
Europe and continue to receive substantial funding for the stretched care sector. Whilst 
the full impact on the mental health of our children and vulnerable adults is still being fully 
assessed the additional funding provided by the council for mental health services is 
further evidence that supporting and protecting vulnerable people remains a priority for 
the council.  
 
In making statements about the state of Social Services in the county I always try and 
triangulate our internal judgement with both performance data and external independent 
evaluations. To this end we commissioned an independent external evaluation of our support 
to care homes. This independent evaluation is summarised in Appendix 4. In addition, Care 
Inspectorate Wales produced an evaluation of the whole of our Social Services functions 
through an inspection in February. This is attached to this report in Appendix 3. These outside 
views enable me to have real confidence in the positive statements I make in this report. 
 
Of course, there is now much to do as we navigate the recovery from the pandemic, 
evaluating the impact on services and face those issues that have inevitably been put on 
hold. Budget pressure will undoubtedly play a part as the number of older people continues to 
grow and mental health in particular faces growing pressures. However, if the pandemic has 

“The local authority ensures people’s voices are heard, their choices respected 
and people routinely achieved self-identified outcomes. Leaders have a line of 
sight on front line practice with clear plans that have led to creative practice.” 

 
“Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) Assurance Check 2021” 

 
 

Tudalen 34



 

5 
 

taught us nothing else then our staff and the organisation is more resilient than we could ever 
have known, and this gives me real cause for optimism moving forward. 

Jake Morgan, Statutory Director of Social Services 

Overview of an Unprecedented Year  
 
A simple way to look at the impact of COVID 19 on Social Services for adults and 
children in the last year is to see it in four phases: 
 
Phase one from March to May 2020 reflected high levels of risk, high levels of 
concern regarding the lack of adequate protection for residents and staff in care and 
nursing homes and the lack of protective equipment. (see statutory report in 
Appendix 1 and 2) This was a period of crisis management locally and nationally as 
we dealt with the overall lack of national preparedness for a pandemic of this type. 
 
Phase two from May to October 2020 we established preventative services; 
embedded safe systems of work; distributed PPE, introduced testing and track and 
trace systems; mainstreamed agile working and monitoring of vulnerable children 
and established systems for infection control.  
 
Phase three from November to January we experienced a second wave of COVID 
19 with devastating effects in some of our care homes, staff absences increased due 
to larger numbers being tested and the total collapse of several care homes in the 
county. The pace of escalation in the number of those infected during December was 
extraordinary.  This period whilst managed extremely well by our teams was 
challenging with staff already fatigued but continuing to work hard to keep people 
safe. At the end of this phase the role out of the Covid vaccinations had begun, with 
care staff among the first in the County to receive their vaccinations. 
 
Phase four from February to the end of March was a recovery from the second 
wave with infections low, care homes operating effectively, and a number of reviews 
and external inspections having been completed to ensure lessons were learnt and 
that we were prepared should there be further outbreaks. The vaccination 
programme was demonstrating it’s effectiveness with 97.7 % of care workers 
vaccinated and 96.4% of residents in care vaccinated. (at the time of writing this 
report) All the signs are that this programme is effective in protecting the most 
vulnerable residents in the county.   
 
During this time, it was imperative that we continued to deliver essential services and 
meet our statutory responsibilities to support those in greatest need. At times we 
made difficult decisions on prioritising our resources for the most critical services as 
necessary. Emergency planning across Social Services, the Council and the region 
saw us develop a coordinated response across in-house and commissioned services 
supported by a strong partnership with the Health Board to keep those for whom we 
provide care and support as safe as possible.  
 
Staff from different services were redeployed to areas of need, and we continue to 
work to the guidance issued by the UK and Welsh Government in relation to safe 
working practices. We have received an impressive response from the community, 

Tudalen 35



 

6 
 

with individuals, groups and businesses working together to support friends, 
neighbours and strangers. We hope that the networks built will remain after the 
pandemic has subsided, continuing to support those in need. 
 
We have set a budget for 2021/22 which balances our resources with known 
demand. However, demand across Children and Adult Services is volatile and we 
have seen a steep rise in demand for domiciliary care since March. This is reflected 
in the financial uncertainty we face. A contingency fund established by the Council 
for Social Services is a prudent approach in the circumstances. 
 
The Council has made a commitment to protect budgets within Social Services and 
invest in our mental health services. This will ensure that we are able to continue to 
deliver high quality services that put people at the centre of their care and support. 
 
We have drawn down substantial financial support from the Welsh Government 
Hardship Fund to help offset some of the additional costs associated with Covid. We 
have claimed a total of just over £9million to date. It is difficult to predict at this stage 
how this crisis will impact on long-term demand and consequently spend, but we will 
continue to monitor the position closely.  

  
We have seen an overall reduction in the number of funded residential and nursing 
placements for older people, which has had a positive impact on the budget albeit 
not quite offsetting the rise in demand for domiciliary care, direct payments and 
mental health services. 
 

Children’s services have continued to function effectively during the Covid 19 
Pandemic and lock-down working arrangements.  Service delivery has been 
prioritised according to a regionally agreed model. This has ensured the 
safeguarding of children and young people residing in Carmarthenshire whilst also 
ensuring that our staff and the families we visit, stay safe by applying social 
distancing.  The pandemic has demonstrated the benefits and opportunities of digital 
working with contact enhanced with many of our children and young people. 
However, a return to a greater level of in person contact will be essential in children’s 
services as we move forward.  
 
For young people leaving care, especially those who may not have previously been 
in regular contact has had a huge potential to increase engagement, develop better 
insight and improve outcomes.  Whilst the focus has been on the pandemic it is also 
good to reflect what an excellent job our service has done in continuing to support 
children and families during this unprecedented year.   
 
The Council’s ability to maintain and even reduce our number of looked after children 
through good practice, investment in prevention and long term effective management 
is an area that is receiving positive national attention. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

“In children’s services, the pod meetings were embedded and highly regarded 

by all staff as an effective and supportive mechanism for themselves and the 

families they supported. These meetings combine a systemic and strengths 

based approach to evaluating work with families”  

 
“Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) 2021” 

Tudalen 36



 

7 
 

 

Within Mental Health and Learning Disability we have seen an increase in residential 

placements and high-cost community packages, as the work to place people in 

alternative settings was paused for the first six months of the pandemic. The impact 

of the pandemic on mental health, substance misuse and safeguarding and demand 

for services is likely to be significant and we have prepared for this in our budget 

setting for 2021/2022. 
 

In relation to supporting adults and older people, we have continued to as far as 
possible to maintain business as usual. We have continued to support people who 
need our help in the community and need support to be discharged from hospital. 
We have continued to offer Information Advice and Assistance (IAA) in line with the 
requirements of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act and carried out social 
care assessments where required.  
 
We have inevitably, had to change the way we do things, and wherever possible we 

have tried to support people virtually when providing information and advice or 

undertaking assessments. We have however, also continued to visit people at home 

when needed on a risk assessed basis, to ensure that our assessments are thorough 

to inform what support we might be able to provide. 

 

Despite all the challenges we continue to have sufficient supply of residential and 

domiciliary care in the county. Rural areas continue to be a challenge and work on a 

new commissioning framework will seek to address gaps in the next year. 

 
At the start of the pandemic, in line with government advice and the high vulnerability 
of our client groups to Covid, we immediately had to close most of our Day Services, 
and suspend most planned respite in care homes. We have however tried to look at 
innovative ways of how we can continue to support those we support to meet their 
preferred outcomes and provide some degree of respite for individuals and families. 
 
In relation to Older People’s Day Services, we carried out a consultation with those 
that previously attended day services and their families in November last year on a 
proposal to provide alternative support whilst day services remained closed. This 
model includes 1 to 1 support at home, as well as greater digital connection where 
appropriate. Emergency respite can also still be arranged at a range of care homes 
across the County on a risk assessed basis, subject to a negative Covid-19 test and 
isolation for 14-days on admission to the care home. At the time of writing new 
guidance is anticipated from Welsh Government surrounding transfer to care homes, 
which may make bed-based respite a more realistic proposition going forward. 
Moving forward it is likely that day services will be required to focus on meeting the 
needs of highly vulnerable older adults whose carers require respite. This will require 
considerable remodelling of our day services. 
 
Within Learning Disability and Mental Health Day Services, whilst some buildings 

have been closed, we have continued to provide care to our most vulnerable and we 

have in some instances successfully provided support in buildings following robust 

risk assessments. We have also offered support at home and a range of online 

virtual activities which remain popular with those who use our services and their 

Tudalen 37



 

8 
 

carers. Activities provided include, exercise, quizzes, and cookery sessions, 

Woodwork and craft activity packs have also been delivered to individual homes to 

enable them to join in with the virtual demonstrations. 

  

In the autumn of 2020, some of our buildings reopened and we are gradually 
accommodating more numbers, prioritising those individuals and families who are 
struggling, However, this will be on a significantly reduced basis, so that we can 
maintain everyone’s safety. Many services will not operate as they previously did. 
They will not be able to offer the range of activities or be able to support as many 
people as they did previously, as our priority is to keep everyone safe. 
 
A review of the regional Shared Lives Scheme was undertaken in 2019 with a view 
to revising the model and structure for future sustainability. The consultation which 
was delayed during the pandemic is now being undertaken and a new model will be 
implemented following this. 
 
The first phase of the new model for disability was also established during 2020 
commencing with the 0 to 25 years old service. Initial feedback from those who use 
services, their carers and professionals is that this is a positive development. Phase 
2 will be implemented this year. 
 
We recognise that the pandemic has been a hugely challenging time for carers who 
have been managing with reduced support and respite. Through the Regional 
Partnership Board arrangements, we have continued to adapt our offer to carers to 
ensure that they can continue to feel supported. The Social Work teams and day 
services staff have kept in contact with carers and provided support when necessary. 
Many of our staff have either achieved or are undertaking the Investors in Carers 
Award which is an acknowledgement of the support provided to carers. All Social 
Work teams also have identified Carers Champions.   
 
The pandemic is challenging for everyone, but the impact on the mental health and 
wellbeing of many people in Wales is significant. Contact with mental health teams 
has also increased by 136% over the last year, from 131 in April to September 2019, 
to 301 for the same period this year. For the Advanced Mental Health Practitioner 
(AMHP) service, it has been business as usual and they have had continued to 
undertake their statutory duties throughout the pandemic and often in high-risk 
situations. 
 
All Mental Health Forums and Networks since March have reported increased 
demand and reported high levels of anxiety across West Wales and Carmarthenshire 
including reported significant increases in people contacting them for support for self-
harm and eating disorders also. 
  
The impact on mental health services is likely to be significant. In planning for this, 
the council has invested significant growth resource to address this which will be 
used to recruit more social work and social care staff to focus on two specific areas; 
early intervention and prevention and a more robust and timelier crisis response.  
During 2020, we have been collaborating with the Health Board and the third sector 
to develop initiatives in this regard developing a Single Point of Access and a 24/7 
crisis response service. Substance misuse services has also seen an increase in the 

Tudalen 38



 

9 
 

volume of work and the complexity of cases as isolation and lockdown has an impact 
on vulnerable people’s lives. 
 

Adult Safeguarding  
 

In relation to Adult Safeguarding, the Regional Safeguarding Board and associated 

subgroups have continued to meet virtually. We were part of a Regional Multi 

Agency Covid response group which met weekly to have assurance regarding 

safeguarding responses during the pandemic. Attendance at strategy meetings has 

been improved. MAPPA, MARAC and VAWDASV arrangements have also 

continued. We have continued to work within the new All Wales Adult Protection 

Procedures and Carmarthenshire has led on several developments across the region 

including the development of a Covid Threshold document and training. We are now 

well prepared for the implementation of the new Liberty Protection Safeguards in 

2022. 

  

We have seen a small increase in safeguarding activity and an increase in the 

complexity of referrals. We are now seeing in the region of 100 to 120 referrals a 

month. 

 

The number of adult safeguarding 

reports received during 2020/21 

demonstrate a direct correlation 

with COVID- 19 restriction periods 

in Wales. During enhanced 

restriction periods in Q1 and Q3 

fewer safeguarding reports were 

received likely due to the limited 

opportunities professionals had to 

visit service users in person and 

the restricted access to service 

settings.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Co-produced solutions were evident and there were positive outcomes for 

people subject to safeguarded interventions. Safeguarding enquiries and 

investigations conducted in line with statutory requirements, good analysis of 

risk, protection plans in place and action taken when necessary. Providers and 

partners said they were supported by the adult safeguarding team; their 

willingness to offer advice, guidance and assist with training of social care 

workers was acknowledged. 

 
“Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) 2021” 

 

 

 

 
Tudalen 39



 

10 
 

A robust regional approach to managing new and existing Deprivation of Liberty 

Safeguard authorisations has been agreed as we have had to adapt our practice 

when we have been unable to visit care homes. This approach ensures the 

principles of the Mental Capacity Act are upheld and is consistent with the guidance 

received from Welsh Government. 

The number of DoLS applications 
has been consistent during the past 
12 months. Due to the visiting 
restrictions in place for care homes, 
the assessments have been 
undertaken remotely in line with 
national guidance and good practice. 
Assessments are prioritised in terms 
of urgency and a robust audit 
process in place for ensuring the 
principles of the Mental Capacity Act 
(2005) are followed. 

 
Seraphim Call 
 
We have developed an innovative trueCall nuisance call blocker device monitoring 

tool and dashboard that correlates call blocker activity data with user risk profiles to 

generate an alert when a service user is exposed to a high number of telephone 

fraud approaches and/or exhibits behaviours that put them at increased risk of 

telephone fraud victimisation.  

The purpose of the alert system is to safeguard vulnerable service users and initiate 

a welfare call and/or visit from local officers and to protect service users from fraud 

victimisation. The nature of trueCall means that many interventions can be 

performed remotely. Such protection and remote oversight has proven invaluable 

during the pandemic. Since April 2020, active trueCall units installed by the authority 

have blocked 16277 nuisance calls made to vulnerable people in the county. Based 

on national intelligence, 4883 of these were identified as scam calls. 

Delta wellbeing   
 
Carmarthenshire has continued to work with its TEC trading company Llesiant Delta 
Wellbeing, to develop a TEC Prevention Strategy for the region, and the CONNECT 
project in particular has come into its own. The programme combines proactive 
integrated tele-monitoring and wellbeing calls, with a rapid response and community-
based support.  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

In adult services, the Delta / Connect project has been successful in promoting 

prevention and early intervention and reducing need for increased or formal 

support from statutory agencies. We saw evidence of enhanced use of 

technology to support people’s safety as well as reduce loneliness and 

isolation. 

“Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) Assurance Check 2021” 

 

 

Tudalen 40



 

11 
 

Throughout the Covid pandemic, Llesiant Delta Wellbeing has worked closely with 
Carmarthenshire County Council to ensure extremely vulnerable residents, who were 
shielding across the county, were supported appropriately. During the national 
emergency, staff worked 24/7 to provide the right support at the right time to our 
most vulnerable in the local community.  
 
They conducted approximately 8,500 calls to residents within Carmarthenshire that 
received shielding letters from Welsh Government, ensuring they had everything 
they needed to stay safe during these difficult times. Through these calls, the team 
were able to check on individual’s general welfare, providing peace of mind for loved 
ones and their families, and vitally, making sure they had enough help and support 
around them during the shielding period and also to prevent isolation and loneliness. 
  
Technology Enabled Care equipment providing round the clock support if needed as 
well as essential food parcels or support while shopping for essentials. The team 
also checked if people were receiving their medication prescriptions and if 
pharmacies were unable to deliver, we referred this for assistance also. Delta 
Wellbeing’s Community 
Welfare Response team, as 
part of its CONNECT service 
provision, was also on hand to 
visit people at home when 
required to solve any practical 
issues they had whilst 
shielding. The team went 
above and beyond on 
occasions to ensure our 
communities most vulnerable 
received the vital help they 
needed to prevent a possible 
crisis occurring. 
  
Feedback about the outbound calls has been extremely positive and ensured any potential 
issues were identified and supported at the earliest opportunity as well as many 
expressing, they felt “reassured” by the call. 
  
The project in Carmarthenshire is a finalist in the Public Sector Transformation Award for 
Excellence, as it exemplifies our ambition of working across sectoral boundaries to deliver 
a radical, person-centred approach to wellbeing, care and support. It involves 
implementing a new model of self-help and pro-active care, enabled by Technology 
Enabled Care (TEC),improving the wellbeing of individuals, which in-turn allows people to 
stay independent for longer, reducing demands on long term or acute care. 
                                                             
In June 2021, we established Test, Trace, Protect Strategy and team to enhance 
health surveillance in the community, undertake effective and extensive contact 
tracing, and encourage and support people to self-isolate.  The Test, Trace and 
Protect (TTP) team’s work was and still is vital, in helping reduce the spread of the 
Coronavirus by identifying recent contacts of people who have tested positive and 
giving them advice. 
 

95 99

134
145

98

125

95

129

103

161

64

127

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

New Referrals signed up to CONNECT 
project Carmarthenshire

 

 

Tudalen 41



 

12 
 

Contact tracing is being used to limit the spread of the virus in the community by 
breaking the link in transmission.  Contact tracing starts with self-reporting of 
symptoms, followed by testing suspected cases, tracing the contacts of those who 
have tested positive and then protecting our families, friends and communities 
through self-isolation. Embedding infection control structures into the permanent 
work of the department will be a priority moving forward. 

 

 

Tudalen 42



 

13 
 

Children Services  
 
This year has been even more challenging due to Covid 19 which has placed significant 
pressure on families and has led to an increase in demand for our services.  This year saw 
an increase of Contacts/Referrals received by 770 in statutory services.  However, we 
continue to perform well despite these pressures.  During 2020/21 93.6% of new 
assessments were completed within statutory timescales. 
 
We continue to follow the guidance within the CYSUR regional threshold document and 
multi-agency child protection arrangements ensuring early intervention, and utilisation of 
preventative services to reduce the need for statutory involvement 
 
A family support ethos is strongly embedded in the authority and numbers of looked after 
children have continued to reduce slowly despite Covid 19. We have performed better than 
the Welsh Government expectation with 15 less children being looked after when 
compared with the same time last year.  The on-going work of the specialist preventative 
services such as IFST, Edge of Care and Family Intervention Team (FIT) working across 
the teams to ensure as much as possible children remaining at home safely with families 
or alternatively securing permanency for children to maintain them out of the statutory 
services by promoting SGO’s to further reduce numbers of children becoming looked after. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

We have continued to focus on maintaining placement stability with good placement 
support being offered across the service to achieve this.  During 20/21 only 7 children (out 
of 148) experienced 3 or more placement moves during the year (4.7%) which is below the 
Welsh average of 9% and reflects the excellent work going on to support placements with 
foster carers.   
 
The number of children on the child protection register has remained stable and the use of 
virtual meetings for conferences has continued to progress good working together with 
professionals in attendance, and communication with families has been good to ensure 
safeguarding issues for children is managed as safely as possible.  
 
The Fostering Team has continued to recruit, train, and assess prospective foster carers 
as well as providing ongoing support to foster carers to enable them to care for our most 
vulnerable children to meet their individual needs and emotional well-being, to ensure 
wherever possible that children are matched appropriately to foster carers and remain in 
Carmarthenshire.   
 

The team has continued to work across the region collaboratively with National Fostering 
Framework (NFF) and work is progressing with implementing the new arrangements in 

We found services such as the Emotional Health Support team, Edge of Care and 

Camau Bach have been planned and aligned to focus on the same aim. Files had 

clear personal outcomes recorded, particularly important in complex situations 

requiring co-ordination of support to address eligible need. 

“Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) Assurance Check 2021” 

 

Tudalen 43



 

14 
 

respect of Special Guardianship Orders. The new Foster Wales Brand Campaign is being 
taken forward and supported regionally with the websites being updated to reflect not only 
preserving our local website but a National approach which we hope will assist our 
marketing and improve fostering recruitment both locally and nationally. Fostering are also 
holding regular online information sessions. 
 
As a result of Covid restrictions assessments have been completed using a combination of 
remote and various forms of face-to-face visits.  Social Workers have made a lot of effort 
to ensure children are seen and sufficient relevant information is gathered for assessments 
despite the challenges of doing that during the last year.  The monthly audit of 
assessments by senior managers has continued to ensure they are outcome focused, 
evidencing the voice of the child and reflect the underpinning principles of the SSWBA.  
This had led to discussions with social workers and managers about strengths as well as 
areas for further development. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Mid & West Wales Adoption Service (MWAS) has continued to recruit, assess, and 

approve adopters.  The level of enquiries has remained high and to respond to demand 

the required preparation training has been taking place every 2 months plus additional 

sessions where necessary.  The content and delivery of training is now consistent across 

the region.  We are making more use of social media to communicate messages about 

adoption and have updated and re-launched the website to make it more accessible to 

those interested in adoption.     https://vimeo.com/479780913 
 
The demand for adoptive placements has remained high this year.  MWAS has continued 
to place children for adoption during the year even though Covid restrictions has meant the 
transition process takes longer in order to ensure moves are undertaken safely for all 
involved.  We have been able to place sibling groups and older children for adoption.   
 
Welsh Government investment in adoption support has enabled MWAS to develop support 
offered to adoptive families and those affected by adoption. This has been challenging as 
a result of lockdown.  Staff have provided support remotely as well as face to face and 
have been very creative in finding alternative ways of supporting families.  One support 
worker wrote a book about returning to school for children.  However some therapeutic 
interventions can only be delivered face to face, so it has been more problematic to find 
ways of doing that resulting in some delay.   
 
 
 
 
 

In children’s services, the pod meetings were embedded and highly regarded by all staff 
as an effective and supportive mechanism for themselves and the families they 

supported. These meetings combine a systemic and strengths based approach to 
evaluating work with families. 

 
“Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) Assurance Check 2021” 

 
 

Tudalen 44

https://vimeo.com/479780913


 

15 
 

Adoption Worker’s Back to School Story  

Rachel Cook has always wanted to 
write a children’s story.  But she has 
never been able to find the time to sit  
down and do it. And then the coronavirus 
pandemic happened, which gave her  
some free time and also the inspiration  
too.  Rachel who works for Carmarthenshire  
County Council as an Adoption Support 
Worker, used her time during lockdown to  
write and illustrate Sammy Sloth Goes Back to School.  The story will hopefully 
help children who are felling anxious about going back to school after being 
home for so long.  Rachel, aged 36, who has always worked with vulnerable 
children and children with additional learning needs said:  “I have always 
enjoyed being creative and have dreamed of writing short children’s stories and 
illustrating them for a long time.  I never imagined that the first story I would write 
would be about a pandemic, but in times of so much change and uncertainty I 
found myself thinking of the many children I’ve supported over the years through 
transitions and how challenging this would be for so many.  Children often find 
change particularly challenging, and with the changes approaching us as we 
begin to return to school, with it may come a mix of emotions and feelings.  
Stories are a natural way for children to learn about their feelings, to help them 
learn that their experiences of feeling worried or nervous about returning to 
school are faced by many.  This story focuses on the familiar, particularly around 
relationships, as sometimes feelings of anxiety come from the unknown, and 
while we may not know everything about what school will look like in the coming 
months, by thinking of some of the things that will be staying the same, we can 
help our children feel more secure”.  The council’s Translation Team has 
translated the story into Welsh, and the council has arranged to print copies to 
put into the county’s primary schools. 
 
Executive Board Member for Education and Children’s Services Cllr Glynog 
Davies said:  “This is a wonderful story which I am sure will help a lot of children 
feeling uncertain about returning to school.  I would like to both congratulate and 
thank Rachel, I am delighted that the book will be going into primary schools for 
pupils to enjoy.” 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This year Adult and Children’s Services have collaborated to create and implement  
a 0-25 disability service. This will ensure support is based on children’s needs, not 
their age so that they receive the services they need when they need them and 
where they can best access them.  We have invested in the Early Help service to 
provide access to Information, Advice and Assistance to families sooner.  We have 
also developed a multi professional approach within our statutory team so that the 
support needs of every family will be overseen by a team incorporating adult and 
children`s social workers, specialist health and educational psychology staff.  They 

Tudalen 45

https://www.bing.com/videos/search?q=sammy+the+sloth+story+-+video+of+Rachel+cook&docid=608013382491442769&mid=B91E0D661DDC51E71FEBB91E0D661DDC51E71FEB&view=detail&FORM=VIRE


 

16 
 

will employ a systemic relationship-based approach, building on the strengths of 
families to overcome their own problems.  We continue to meet with parents of 
disabled children on a monthly basis.  Our ‘Working Together’ groups have been 
used to review services and ensure we are focussed on delivering better outcomes 
for families.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
We have also been developing a ‘local offer’ of support for disabled/autistic children 
and young people and their families. This will include the piloting of a proactive 
provision of information, advice, and assistance to families with Delta Wellbeing.  A 
working group has been formed by Early Help Manager with representation from our 
parents’ group to begin developing the content. 
 
We are currently undertaking a review of our residential services for disabled 
children to ensure that they prepare children for adult life.  Consultations have taken 
place with parents, managers, staff, and a number of changes agreed which will be 
taken forward to enable us to maintain the high quality of the existing service as well 
as plan for the future demand.  The new residential services manager commenced in 
post from January 2021. They will undertake a programme of work to review our 
existing services as well as develop new services to prevent young people with a 
learning disability needing to leave Carmarthenshire to access residential college. 
 
Family Information Service (FIS) has continued to ensure families and professionals 
have received Information, Advice and Assistance (IAA) and been kept up-to-date 
with services, information, resources, and developments especially in relation to 
Covid-19 and priority issues. FIS social media platforms are continuing to grow and 
develop and the number of enquiries to FIS has seen a 62% increase over the last 
year. 
 
Families First projects adapted quickly and innovatively to the changes in delivery 
during the pandemic and during the year 8362 individuals (2409 families) received 
support from the FF programme, 45% were new families. 
 
Flying Start homework packs were successful in providing Early Years Learning for 
those FS children unable to attend their nursery due to the pandemic.  Since 
September over 677 packs have been delivered.  The Flying Start App has been 
pivotal in reaching families, delivering services, and providing key messages and 
information to all our families. 
 

We found a strong emphasis on professional disciplines working together; for 

example an education psychologist being part of the 0-25 Disability Team and 

other specialist posts in this team providing specialist knowledge. We received 

positive responses from staff about the 0-25 Team structural changes that 

occurred last year 

“Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) Assurance Check 2021” 

 

  

Tudalen 46



 

17 
 

Team Around the Family (TAF) has continued providing targeted support to children 
and families mostly via the telephone and digital means and supporting families 
outdoors in accordance with WG requirements as well as visiting schools when they 

re-opened.   https://youtu.be/owHIBYyAFKY 
 
During the first lockdown the number of domestic abuse reports rose steeply.  The 
Schools Safeguarding and Attendance Team (SSAT) responded to this by increasing 
awareness in schools of the impact of domestic abuse and promoting support 
services, and the Domestic Abuse Toolkit for schools was updated.   
A child protection policy specific to Covid 19 was developed including information on 
Domestic Abuse. Families open to the team were RAG rated and where needed 
daily contact provided, especially as many children have struggled to cope with the 
impact of the pandemic alongside the periods of school closures, self-isolation, and 
remote learning.   
 
Just before lockdown in March the numbers of electively home educated children 
(EHE) increased and continued to rise where on average 25 children were becoming 
EHE each week. The long-term failure of government to produce appropriate 
legislation to enable us to support and monitor these young people is well 
documented and subject to considerable concern from the regional safeguarding 
board, Children’s Commissioner and the National Safeguarding board advising 
government. This issue will continue to be raised with government to act from 
Directors of Education and Directors of Social Services. 
 
The Young Carers’ team have continued to provide a range of services and support 
for young carers including emotional support and counselling. 
 
Care Leavers have continued to be seen and have also had access to advocacy 
services and the team have provided a range of training and support. As at 31/3/21 
out of the 135 care leavers – 15 are in University, 34 were in FE, 22 at school, 3 in 
6th form, 16 in full-time employment, 11 in full-time training, 1 in full time paid work 
placement. 7 young people have been working as Key Workers alongside their 
studies and 10 young people who work full-time are Key Workers.  33 were NEET 
 
Educational and Child Psychology Service (ECPS) and Emotional Health Team 
(EHT).  ECPS and EHT have continued to provide consultation, assessment, 
training, and therapeutic interventions through remote means and where essential 
face-to-face.  Additional pastoral support has been provided to school who provided 
Childcare Hubs for children of essential key workers and those who were vulnerable 
during lockdown.  Continued to support Emotional Literacy Support Assistants and 
worked to rapidly introduce safe processes for pupils to continue to receive 
counselling during lockdown and piloted therapeutic interventions with year 5 pupils 
and below through the whole school approach to emotional well-being. 
 
 

 

 

 

We found services commissioned through education colleagues making  
a positive difference to children’s outcomes. 

 
“Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) Assurance Check 2021” 

 
 

Tudalen 47

https://youtu.be/owHIBYyAFKY


 

18 
 

Direct Care Provision  

 
Care Home 

 
The most significant area of risk and greatest impact of Covid-19 has continued to be 

in relation to the care home sector in Carmarthenshire, in particular care homes for 

older people. In the second wave, we have experienced significantly more care 

home outbreaks and a very high level of homes under ‘exclusion’ to new admissions 

due to positive cases. In total, 33 older people care homes were subject to exclusion 

and of these, 16 were deemed as outbreak status. In addition, 23 care homes for 

people with a learning disability and or mental health were also subject to exclusions 

with 8 of these experiencing an outbreak. Outbreaks have looked very different in the 

second wave due to very high community transmission rates, and significant 

advances in both TTP (Test, Trace and Protect) and testing regimes. 
 

 

 

Whilst there is a deep sadness felt by the sector for every individual lost to Covid 19 the 

external evaluations Appendix 3 and 4 has reassured the local authority that we have 

done everything in our power to support care homes within the County. Where things 

have not been right we have advocated and learnt to improve practice going forward. 

 

The advances in testing and TTP processes led to much greater protection for both 
staff and residents and have undoubtedly helped reduce the number of potential 
deaths. However, these developments have also brought significant challenges 
which has meant that we have on several occasions been in positions where 50% of 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Carmarthenshire : Care home deaths

(CIW)Table 10: Number of notifications of deaths of adult care home
residents involving COVID-19 (both confirmed and suspected) occurring in
any location, by local authority and day of notification 01/04/2020 -
31/03/2021

(CIW)Table 11: Number of notifications of deaths of adult care home
residents, by local authority and day of notification 01/04/2020 - 31/03/2021

Tudalen 48



 

19 
 

a workforce establishment to be off work at the same time. Covid test results tended 
to come back in batches, so it was common for significant numbers of staff need to 
self-isolate at once.  
 
We therefore developed a suite of options to be able to support homes with a 
workforce response when needed.  This has included block contracts with agencies, 
deployment of our own staff, mutual aid from both Pembrokeshire County Council 
and the Health Board to support with staffing, management on call arrangements 
over weekends and bank holidays and in the two most serious cases the Local 
Authority temporarily taking over the management of the home. Thankfully, following 
the reduction in community transmission of Covid and the roll out of the vaccination 
programme, at the time of writing the report we had no care homes in an outbreak 
situation and only a handful under ‘exclusion’.  
 
Most of the care and support in Carmarthenshire is delivered by the independent 
commissioned sector. The Commissioning team in Carmarthenshire has played a 
significant part in supporting these services during the pandemic. The range of 
support has included: 
 

• Coordination of the numerous communications and guidance. 

• Coordination and supply of PPE. 

• Proactive communications including a 24/7 helpline at the peak of the pandemic.  

• Support for risk assessments surrounding admissions/returns from hospital. 

• Initiating provider performance arrangements to address any Covid-19 or other 
concerns in relation to service provision. 

• Support with testing and infection control.  

• Financial support.  

• Coordination of support and liaison with care homes experiencing outbreaks. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Visiting care homes by families and friends has, and remains, a challenge. Within our 

own homes, we continue to follow Welsh Government guidance which has allowed 

us to implement a plan to allow managed visits, balancing infection control issues 

with the need for residents to see their loved ones. With external homes, we have 

encouraged them to follow the Welsh Government guidance.  

In-house and external care homes have continued to face the following challenges: 

Providers told us about good communication and positive meetings with local 

authority commissioners during the pandemic. They said there was good 

communication and a culture of working collaboratively and making decisions 

together. We heard how the relationship between providers and care 

management teams had been strengthened during the pandemic. 

 

“Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) Assurance Check 2021” 

 
 

Tudalen 49



 

20 
 

• Increased number of vacant beds, due the numbers of residents who have 
sadly passed away during the pandemic, and difficulties surrounding new 
admissions linked to ‘exclusion’ status.  

• Financial impact in terms of increased staffing needed due to shielding staff and 
residents being isolated; and 

• Managing the mental and physical impact on staff e.g. Additional workload, 
dealing with end of life situations with little or no family involvement and 
pressures for the teams. 

 
Wherever possible, we are taking the opportunity to reflect on how we can improve 
and do things better in the future. For example, we commissioned an independent 
review to evaluate our approach to supporting care homes (Appendix 4) in the first 
wave, and this has been hugely valuable in informing how we have responded in the 
second wave.  

 
Domiciliary Care 

Domiciliary Care services were also affected, with the Support from Executive Board 

and the Chief Executive we were able to take early action to support the domiciliary 

care workforce. These steps included:   

 

• Redeploy day service and Leisure officers to deliver care. 

• Reconfigure larger packages of care based on risk assessments. 

• Introducing fast track training and rolling recruitment.  

• Putting in place a recruitment and retention package for in house care staff. 
This is reviewed monthly. 

• Increasing commissioned domiciliary care rates temporarily by a pound an 
hour. 

• Introducing upfront payment for commissioned hours for domiciliary care 
agencies to ensure cash flow is maintained in the sector. 

 

Our fast track recruitment process has been extremely successful. At the time of 
writing 25 new carers have been appointed in-house with this number compensating 
for the additional Covid 19 related absence. General sickness was substantially 
down and many staff who work part time are willing to do additional hours. 
 
I am particularly proud of our in-house workforce who have demonstrated 
remarkable resilience and commitment and continued to deliver care to our most 
vulnerable throughout the pandemic even at the start when there was insufficient 
PPE.  There were sickness challenges during 2020 although only a third was covid 
related so many have worked extra hours and have been flexible to cover calls. 
Senior staff and supervisors have also undertaken front line duties when necessary. 
Staff have also been vigilant in the application of safe working practices and use of 
PPE. 
 
During the pandemic, a small independent domiciliary care company was transferred 
into the service. A new Senior Manager for domiciliary care was also appointed and 
commenced in March 2021. Regular compliance meetings with CIW for all registered 
services have taken place during 2020/21 and have been very positive. A key 

Tudalen 50



 

21 
 

objective going forward is to grow the in-house domiciliary service which will include 
supporting those with more complex needs. 
 
Our children’s residential sector worked throughout the pandemic and have been 
extraordinarily successful at protecting vulnerable children in their care. 
 

Complaints and Compliments 
 

Adults 
 
At the end of Q4 20/21, the department received a total of 277 compliments, this is 
an increase of 156% compared to last year. The highest number of compliments are 
under our In-House Domiciliary care team who account for a total of 89 of these 
compliments.  
 
A total of 34 complaints were recorded at either Stage 1 or 2 in relation to Adult 
Social Care. It provides a positive picture of the department’s performance in the 
context of 4,355 individuals that received a social care service from Carmarthenshire 
County Council during this period. This means that well under 1% of individuals 
formally complained about the service they received. There were 28 stage 1 local 
resolution complaints and 6 Stage 2 formal complaints, this means the department 
have received 46% fewer complaints compared to the same period last year. The 
department received a further 52 ‘concerns’ which did not go down the formal route 
of a Stage 1 or Stage 2. Two out of the six stage 2 complaints were escalated from 
stage 1. Of the three completed stage 2 complaints, 2 were not upheld and 1 was 
partially upheld. 
 

Children 
 
At the end of Q4 20/21, 11 compliments were received by parents, carers and other 
agencies. The compliments included comments relating to individual social workers 
reports, the way they communicated with parents and other professionals as well as 
their written work.  
 
There were 9 Stage 1 complaints received in relation to Children Services.  
5 of the Stage 1 complaints were upheld. There were 3 independently investigated 
Statutory Stage 2 complaint; these were not upheld by the IIO. A further complaint 
was investigated by an IIO; this complaint was a historic complaint and therefore did 
not fall under the Social Services Complaints Procedures, however it was looked at 
to consider if there was any learning for the department.   
 
We undertook a proactive survey during the pandemic to those who had received 
care and support services during the year and the response was overwhelmingly 
positive. Feedback included:  
 

 

 

“That has been their highest priority in setting up my care plan” 

“Very comfortable and felt supported in an appropriate way.” 

“The ladies in question were extremely patient and forgiving, knowing I have a 

brain injury” 

Very very fast response to my needs in a time of national lock-down” 

 

 

Tudalen 51



 

22 
 

Workforce 
 

Having the very best people working for the Authority means the very best social 
care can be provided for our people in the community.  It is important that staff feel 
proud about the social care they provide and feel they are connected to the Local 
Authority, their communities and the teams they work within. 
 
During the Covid pandemic, our workforce has continued to amaze us with their 
flexibility and resilience. Most notably, our in-house residential staff have been 
deployed to support independent sector care homes where needed at times of Covid 
outbreaks. Leisure staff were redeployed to support our front line services.  Their 
commitment and compassion can only be described as outstanding. Recruitment 
and retention remains good in most areas. Social work retention is generally good 
with all but a small number of posts relatively easy to recruit to. 
 
Engagement has been maintained with the Trade Unions via Department Trade 
Union forums and issues have been addressed as needed.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We recognise that the pandemic has had a huge emotional and psychological impact 
on many of our staff, and this should not be underestimated. We are doing all we can 
to support them ensuring that our staff benefit from our corporate wellbeing 
programme of support. We are paying particular attention to how we can support 
staff who have been involved in care home outbreaks, as we recognise how 
distressing this has been and the significant emotional toll that it has played.  
 
Each of the childcare teams has been using a systemic approach to delivering 
social work services.  30 members of staff and managers are about to complete the 
qualification Foundation Year of Systemic Social Work Practice and in addition social 
workers across the service undertook a 3 day training event.  As a result of this 
training staff now have the knowledge to underpin their practice which will increase 
confidence and provide consistency.  
 
Covid restrictions have affected pod working as many staff find it harder to pick up on 
non-verbal communication and to be creative when discussing a case in a remote 
meeting.  However, pod meetings continued throughout the year and staff made 
every effort to make them as effective as possible. 
 
Staff continue to be positive about the benefits of the systemic approach. They find it 
supportive and also value how it makes the most of different perspectives in order to 

The workforce had a high level of competence in how to work with people, this 
has been maintained as far as possible during the pandemic. Staff told us 
training online has been available and is accessible to partners. Given the 

pandemic circumstances we found staff morale was very good. 
 

“Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) Assurance Check 2021” 

 
 

Tudalen 52



 

23 
 

understand better how a family functions as well as the impact on and meaning for 
the child of relationships in the family. 
 
Outstanding support has been provided by IT services to modernise working 
practices as our whole workforce went agile in 2020. Moving forward we need to get 
the right balance between the use of digital solutions and face to face interaction.  
 
A survey was undertaken in April 2021 on Rate Your Division as an Employer based 
on a Net Promoter Score analysis.  We asked a question to all the staff in the 
Department if they would “Rate Your Division as an Employer” to understand their 
experience working in the department and division.  The overall result was staff rated 
the department as a positive place to work.  With staff views significantly improving 
from good to great since 2017. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Welsh Language  
 
Over the last 9 months our Welsh language speaking levels have increased from 33% 
to 35%.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

We found the Welsh language ‘Active Offer’ was being promoted with 

recognition of people’s first language recorded and services being delivered in 

people’s chosen language. Preferred language is recognised as a key factor in 

building effective relationships between people and practitioners. 

“Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) Assurance Check 2021” 

 
 

3 NPS (Good 0-
30)

3 NPS (Good 0-

30)

34 NPS (Great 
31-70)

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

2017 2018 2021

N
et

 p
ro

m
o

te
r 

sc
o

re
 (

N
P

S)

Department for Communities Net 
promoter scores (2017, 2018 & 2021)

Tudalen 53



 

24 
 

Conclusion and Next Steps 
 

Overall, this report demonstrates a strong response to the pandemic and the 

maintenance of effective service delivery for the last year. This was confirmed early 

this year by the national inspectorate.   We inevitably go into the next year facing the 

unknown, unsure whether the end of the pandemic is in sight or exactly what the new 

normal will be.  We have a workforce that is fatigued from a difficult year and our 

priority must be to support them in the changes to services that  will be needed if we 

are to continue to perform well. The business plans for the services will drive the 

necessary change moving forward and we can be confident that we have the 

workforce and management needed to adapt to future challenges. In the tables 

below we have set out many of the key actions needed in the coming year: 

Children’s services: 
 

No Action By Who 

1 We will ensure the regional threshold and multi-agency child 
protection arrangements are working effectively.    

Noreen 
Jackman 

2 We will continue to develop the Flying Start programme, promoting 
early intervention for disadvantaged families with children (0-3) 
living in specific deprived communities, ensuring good multi 
agency support to families. 

Noeline 
Thomas 

3 We will continue to work with partners to improve appropriate 
accommodation options and housing support for all vulnerable 
young people (aged 16-25) and implement the care leavers’ 
accommodation framework     

Bethan 
James 

4 We will implement a joint disability service for children, young 
people aged 0-25 and their families to ensure our services are 
based on need not on age.  
 

Kelvin 
Barlow 

 

5 We will continue to aim to reduce the number of children becoming 
Looked After and number of care proceedings in accordance with 
our LAC reduction target as agreed with Welsh Government, 
utilising appropriately Edge of Care (EOC), Integrated Family 
Support Team (IFST) and Family Intervention Team (FIT). 

Jayne 
Meredith 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 54



 

25 
 

Adult Social Care and Integrated Services  
 

No Action By Who 

1 We will develop our overall approach to Integrated Services, so 
we are able to help develop strong communities, help people to 
help themselves, provide help when people need it and provide 
long-term support whilst keeping people safe. We will ensure we 
are able to do this through agreement of a vision for Integrated 
Services between the Local Authority and Health Board, a new 
Section 33 agreement setting out our collective responsibilities 
and agreement and of a new structure to support delivery.  

Alex 
Williams 

2 We will develop our overall vision and strategic plan/pathways for 
prevention, proactive care including approach dementia, 
intermediate care and long-term care, to ensure that we can 
deliver the vision for integrated services and effectively manage 
demand.  
 
As part of this, we will deliver the corporate objectives as follows:  
 

• We will develop the Information Advice and Assistance (IAA) 
service by enhancing the Multi-Disciplinary Team, to ensure 
that as many individuals as possible are supported to achieve 
preventative outcomes. (14694) 

• We will continue to support people living with dementia and the 
development of more dementia friendly and supportive 
communities and provisions across the County (14695)   

We will work with partners to ensure that people remain socially 
connected, particularly through the use of virtual support such as 
the Connect project, in order to reduce loneliness, tackle 
inequalities and poverty (14696) 

Alex 
Williams 

3 We will reshape our approach to support patient flow and home 
first by developing the above pathways and ensure that 
monitoring and escalation processes are in place to ensure 
effective patient flow. 

Alex 
Williams 

4 We will further strengthen the provision and use of the Welsh 
language within social care services, supporting our staff to learn 
virtually currently, to be able to provide services in the language 
of service users’ choice and ensure compliance with the `Active 
Offer` (14697) 

Angharad 
Jenkins 

5 We will develop an overall recovery model to redesign support 
and services during and after the Covid-19 pandemic. This will 
include how we safely restart day services/develop day 
opportunities as well as bed-based reablement. 

Alex 
Williams 

6 Establish Delta Connect as a primary prevented telecare service 
within the country. Develop with the health boards intervention 
with telecare/telehealth 

Alex 
Williams 

7 We will ensure that we have a through age approach to 
community support.  This will include new models of service 
delivery to respond to Covid -19.  (12540) 

Sharon 
Frewin 

Tudalen 55



 

26 
 

8 Maintain a strong and sustainable in-house domiciliary provision 
for Council and support the commissioning team in developing a 
new framework including the redevelopment of the reablement 
services  (13225) 

Julie 
Duggan 

9 We will continue to work with partners to transform mental health 
and learning disability services. We will promote independence, 
early intervention and prevention and ensure that support and 
services are accessible (14698) 

Mark 
Evans/ 
Kelvin 
Barlow 

10 Implement measures to respond to operational and strategic 
imperatives associated with Safeguarding including Deprivation 
of Liberty Safeguards DOLS) Liberty Protection Standards ( LPS 
)  and  Violence Against Women , Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence Act ( VAWDASV) 

Cathy 
Richards 

11 Collaborate with colleagues in commissioning, housing and the 
Health Board to develop a range of supported accommodation 

Mark 
Evans/ 
Kelvin 
Barlow 

Tudalen 56



 

27 
 

Departments Management Structure  
 

T
udalen 57



 

28 
 

Appendix 1 – Statutory Notice March 2020 

EXECUTIVE BOARD  

DATE: 1ST JUNE, 2020 

 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBER PORTFOLIO HOLDER:-  

Cllr. J. Tremlett (Social Care & Health Portfolio Holder) 

Directorate 

Communities 

Name of Head of Service: 

Jake Morgan 

Designations: 

Director of Community 
Services 

Tel Nos. 

01267 224698 

E Mail Addresses: 

JakeMorgan@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

SUBJECT: 

REPORT OF THE STATUTORY DIRECTOR OF SOCIAL SERVICES 
 

Purpose: 
Under the Code of Practice issued under the Social Services and Wellbeing Act the Statutory Director 

of Social Services has a duty to advise councillors on – amongst other things – the challenges, risks 

and circumstances where staff issues affect our ability to discharge our statutory responsibilities, and 

to brief the Chief Executive and councillors on matters likely to cause public concern, and strategies to 

deal with those situations.  

This report reflects the position of key Social Services in Carmarthenshire during the National 

Emergency caused by Covid 19. This is a summary report only and does not include all areas of 

activity. These will be covered in the Director of Social Services annual report later in the year or by 

any further notes of advice deemed necessary to report. 

Recommendations / key decisions required: 
This summary report highlights actions and the position in:  

• Domiciliary Care 

• Residential Care 

• Other Key Services 

The Executive Board are asked to note the position and confirm these actions.   

Reasons:  
To inform members and the public of the position in relation to key services. 
Relevant scrutiny committee to be consulted : NO 

Exec Board Decision Required                     YES  

Council Decision Required                           NO  

Tudalen 58

mailto:JakeMorgan@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


 

29 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

EXECUTIVE BOARD 
1ST JUNE, 2020 

 

 

SUBJECT: 

REPORT OF THE STATUTORY DIRECTOR OF SOCIAL 
SERVICES 

 

 

 

Under the Code of Practice issued under the Social Services and Wellbeing Act the Statutory 

Director of Social Services has a duty to advise councillors on – amongst other things – the 

challenges, risks and circumstances where staff issues affect our ability to discharge our 

statutory responsibilities, and to brief the Chief Executive and councillors on matters likely to 

cause public concern, and strategies to deal with those situations.  

This is a summary report only and does not include all areas of activity. These will be covered 

in the Director of Social Services’ annual report later in the year or by any further notes of 

advice deemed necessary to report. 

In March we were at the start of a National Emergency with pressures growing as the 

incidents of Coronavirus infection grew in the county. Many services had ceased altogether 

with provision being modified to prioritise care to our most vulnerable clients based on 

individual risk assessments. The position has since developed with new systems now in place 

to manage risk alongside serious concerns across Wales in relation to the residential sector. 

Immediate service failure is still a risk in some areas and in others the service delivery model 

is under increasing strain. This notice reflects that overall position.  

Overall the response by the council has been effective in maintaining social care services in 

extraordinarily difficult circumstances. Significant support financially and direct intervention 

and support by the Leader of the council, Lead member and the Chief Executive has 

contributed to the maintenance of most core provision to a good standard despite facing 

unprecedented challenges. The impact of the virus on residents in care homes is a serious 

and ongoing concern in Carmarthenshire as it is across much of Wales. 

Throughout this emergency our thoughts are with those residents, care staff and families who 

have been impacted on so tragically by this virus. 

 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED ? YES 

Tudalen 59



 

30 
 

IMPLICATIONS 
 

 

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this 
report : 

 

Signed:               Jake Morgan  Director of Community Services                             

 

Policy, Crime 
& Disorder 
and 
Equalities 
 

Legal  Finance  ICT  Risk 

Management 

Issues  

Staffing 

Implications 

Physical 

Assets   

NONE 

Directly 

relating to this 

update report 

NONE  

Directly 

relating to 

this update 

report 

NONE  

Directly 

relating to 

this update 

report 

NONE  

Directly 

relating to this 

update report 

NONE  

Directly relating 

to this update 

report 

NONE  

Directly relating to 

this update report 

NONE 

Directly 

relating to 

this update 

report 

 

CONSULTATIONS 

 

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below 

 

Signed:       Jake Morgan          Director of Community Services                                              

 

1. Scrutiny Committee – N/A 

2.Local Member(s)  - N/A 

3.Community / Town Council – N/A 

4.Relevant Partners  - N/A 

5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations  - N/A 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD PORTFOLIO HOLDER(S) 
AWARE/CONSULTED: 
YES 

Cllr. J. Tremlett has been fully consulted with the 
content of the report. 

 

Tudalen 60



 

31 

 Statutory Notice June 2020 
 

Report of the Statutory Director of Social Services 30/3/2020 
 
1.  Introduction 
 
Under the Code of Practice issued under the Social Services and Wellbeing act the 
Director of Social Services has a duty to advise councillors on – amongst other 
things – the challenges, risks and circumstances where staff issues affect our 
ability to discharge our statutory responsibilities, and to brief the Chief Executive 
and councillors on matters likely to cause public concern, and strategies to deal 
with those situations. 
 
I have been a Statutory Director of Social Services for seven years and this is the 
first time I have issued a formal advice note to councillors outside of my Annual 
report. This is a summary report only and does not include all areas of activity. 
These will be covered in my annual report later in the year or by any further notes of 
advice I deem necessary to report. 
 
As members are all aware, we are at the start of a National Emergency with 
pressures growing as the incidents of Coronavirus infection grow in the county. 
Many services have ceased altogether with provision being modified to our most 
vulnerable clients based on individual risk assessments. 
In some cases, families have withdrawn services as the lockdown enables 
children to care for parents. This has helped in many of our key areas to maintain 
statutory provision. Overall in the circumstances our services are holding up well 
but there are significant risks moving forward. 
 
2. Domiciliary care 
 
We are facing significant challenges to maintain staffing as Coronavirus absences 
increase (Primarily self-isolating because of underlying conditions or household 
members with symptoms). I am enormously proud of the teams running our service 
and we continue to deliver broadly the same number of hours of care. With all 
sickness considered our in-house services are functioning on approximately 30% 
reduced staff numbers. Actions to support and maintain services include: 
 
• Reducing continuity of care with carers deployed to cover essential calls even 

when this reduces established call patterns. 
• Risk assessing packages of care and reducing them where we can safely. 
• Redeploy day service officers to deliver care. 
• Reducing larger packages based on risk assessments. 
• Introducing fast track training and rolling recruitment (we anticipate an additional 

8 staff will start in the coming week). 
• Temporarily increasing pay rates for in house carers, offering time and a half 

for every hour people work over 20 hours a week. This is reviewed monthly 
through our emergency command structures. 

• Increasing commissioned care rates temporarily by a pound an hour. 

Tudalen 61



 

32 

• Introducing up front payment for commissioned hours for domiciliary care 
agencies to ensure cash flow is maintained.  At present our commissioned care 
agencies are managing whilst reporting they are under significant pressure. My 
overall assessment is that our services are maintaining well in the 
circumstances. However, there is a considerable risk to be managed going 
forward. The national policy, provision and supply of protective equipment to 
the sector is causing some staff and clients anxiety. 
 

3. Residential Care 
 
Residential care for older people is holding up well in the circumstances with 
placements still being made and whilst we have reduced staff numbers levels 
remain safe. Our commissioned care homes are reporting that staffing levels are still 
adequate but are under pressure with a small number of homes periodically refusing 
new admissions. No significant problems have yet been identified in the Learning 
disability, Children’s or Mental Health residential sector. Our fostering and adult 
placement services remain stable. Actions to support the sector have included: 

• Paying time and a half for every hour over 20 hours. To be reviewed monthly. 
• Funding every care place for older people we purchase with a temporary 

additional £50 per week. This is reviewed on a monthly basis through our 
emergency command structures. To be reviewed monthly. 

• Ensuring a no visitors policy is adhered to in all homes. 
• Rhyd y gors school has been made available for emergency children’s 

placements. 

• Our residential respite children’s homes remain open for emergencies only. 
My overall assessment is that our services are maintaining critical provision well in 
the circumstances. However, there is a considerable risk to be managed going 
forward. The national policy, provision and supply of protective equipment to the 
sector is causing some staff and clients anxiety. 
 
4. Other key Services: 
 
All day care provision has been suspended with care packages assessed and 
staff supporting clients in the community where necessary. 
Proactive calls from Delta and social work teams monitor those who are vulnerable. 
Wider council initiatives will also enhance our ability to respond to those in need thus 
preventing Social Service functions becoming overwhelmed. 
 
Children’s social work continues to maintain all statutory monitoring and to have the 
capacity to act when necessary. At least one set of care proceedings has been 
issued with courts still functioning effectively. Children’s cases have been risk 
assessed by the Head of Children’s Services so the most vulnerable can be 
prioritised for monitoring and support. 
 
Adult Mental Health Practitioner numbers are low, and it is proving extremely 
challenging to maintain. It is possible that a reduced service will be offered going 
forward pending any temporary legislative changes although statutory 
requirements are still being met at present. 
 
 

Tudalen 62



 

33 

5. Protective Equipment: 
 
Protective equipment for Social Care staff refers primarily to gloves, aprons, eye 
protectors and masks which have a water-resistant feature (there are detailed 
specifications as to what should be used). We include hand gel as essential and after 
considerable efforts we now have adequate supply for the next 2 weeks of this 
product. All items are disposable. 
 
At the time of writing the National guidance is that face masks are only used where 
there is a suspected or confirmed case of Caronavirus. It does not, in my view 
reflect the nature of the care task domiciliary care workers are required to do in 
comparative isolation where their clients symptoms may change on a day by day 
basis and they are required to make decisions without the support of a location and 
immediate hierarchy to support any risk assessment. 
 
Concerns regarding this area have been a permanent feature of correspondence 
and Dialogue between councils the WLGA and Welsh Government. Last week the 
Leader of the council wrote to the minister highlighting concerns. 
 
Managing the anxieties of service users is extremely difficult for care staff along with 
managing their own. Care staff have reported to me as being ‘terrified’ before 
coming on shift and we are certain the lack of protective equipment being used 
routinely has reduced the overall capacity of the service. 
 
Domiciliary Care – Following this guidance is challenging. Symptoms of 
Coronavirus include temperature, headache and/or a cough. These are common 
symptoms of many chronic conditions and infections that many of our clients have in 
the ordinary course of their lives Furthermore many infected people are not 
symptomatic. Thus, identifying when such symptoms relate to Coronavirus can be 
problematic and this causes anxiety amongst front line staff. 
 
The national position is, in my view, made more complex by the guidance for 
isolation and shielding of many of our service users and those with some chronic 
conditions. Guidance indicates that many of our clients should ‘Stay away from 
people, even friends and family. Do not go out at all’. 
 
Yet where they require care that can include feeding, washing and toileting by up 
to 6 different people a day we are not instructed that these carers should be given 
protective clothing to mitigate the risk to them or the client. All the front-line care 
workers and nurses I have spoken to see this apparent contradiction. I am yet to 
speak to someone delivering care who is supportive of the current guidance. 
 
Care Homes The emerging evidence is that there have been a substantial number 
of deaths in other countries in nursing home facilities. Investigations into deaths in a 
Seattle nursing home in the US concluded that symptoms ‘aren’t enough to identify 
who is infected once the coronavirus enters a long term care facility’ The report 
concluded that ‘as soon as there is a confirmed case all health care workers should 
don masks and other protective garments and residents should be isolated as much 
as possible’ The report found that of 23 residents who tested positive, only 10 had 

Tudalen 63



 

34 

symptoms on the day they were tested. Further indicating that symptoms alone are a 
poor indicator of the need to issue protective equipment (the current guidance). 
Testing - My concerns are exacerbated by the delays and limited number of tests 
available. At present there only 80 a day for this health board area and the testing of 
care staff can only be requested on a case by case basis. Whilst substantial national 
work is underway to increase the capacity to test, we are yet to see the impact of it 
to the sector. Where symptoms were identified in one setting there was a substantial 
delay in getting results that confirmed they were negative. 
 
Supply- The current position is that equipment will be issued ‘when needed’ by 
Health and local authorities from Welsh Government. The only source for the 
required standard of Facemasks is Welsh Government. We have a relatively good 
supply of gloves and aprons. I have not been made aware of any national shortage 
or supply issues by Welsh Government. Policy in issuing protective equipment is 
consistent across Community Health and Social Care. 
 
As of last week, we have completed a daily return to Welsh Government at 3pm. 
However, I have no indication of what future supplies will be or the basis on which the 
current allocations have been made. Communication into those issuing equipment is 
limited and there is no dialogue on what amounts are released to us. This makes it 
extremely difficult to know what level of supplies to issue to hundreds of settings and 
thousands of employees across the social care sector in Carmarthenshire. 
At the time of writing we have approximately 5000 facemasks in store, enough for 
approximately one day if we were to use across the sector. 
 
Later this week a new 24/7 store in the county will be established with a dynamic and 
flexible distribution process to ensure those most in need get it. This will address any 
shortfalls in communication and distribution that have been identified 
Central to how we manage this risk is how limited the supply is nationally. It may be 
that we must ration because of a shortfall nationally however to advise the council on 
risk I would have to understand the rationale/ risk assessment for the supply we are 
getting. 
 
The prudent and safest action to take to protect staff and vulnerable people would be to 
issue protective equipment for all community care workers to use as a matter of course in 
personal care. In addition, increasing the usage in residential settings is key to mitigating 
risk of multiple infections. Our initial estimate, based on a range of assumptions, would 
mean we require in the region of 25,000 masks a week for the county. Further work would 
need to be done on this to test these assumptions however this is not nearly achievable 
with the current supply from Welsh Government. 
 
To conclude - I am not able to reassure the council as to the risk in relation to staff or 
service users without the issuing of protective equipment to domiciliary staff to use at all 
visits in the community. In addition, there should, as a minimum be enough stock to 
issue to all staff in a residential setting where there are suspected or actual cases. 

 

 

 

Tudalen 64



 

35 

6.  Additional beds 

• Central to the management of care pathways in preparing to meet predicted 
demand. Whilst there is a considerable range in terms of modelling of the virus 
spread we have been amongst the proactive authorities in Wales identifying, 
designing and building three settings for the NHS that will create more than 600 
additional beds to be handed over to the Health Board in the next 2 weeks. Thus, 
whilst we anticipate considerable strains on the system and risk, we have already 
taken action that will mitigate this risk. Further expansion plans on the three sites 
and in our care homes is being considered. The estimated cost of this in capital 
build terms is £4.7 million. It is hoped this will be less as the building work 
progresses. It is intended that the bulk of this work for the NHS will be covered by 
ICF Capital regional fund although this is yet to be formally agreed. 

7. Conclusion: 

This report sets out the risks that are being managed well. Any significant risks going 

forward will be considered carefully and reported where necessary. At this stage I am 

not able to reassure the council regarding the use of Personal Protective Equipment. 

 

- The report was by state and local investigators, and scientists at the centre for 
disease control and prevention in Atlanta.

Tudalen 65



 

36 

Appendix 2 – CIW Assurance Check February 2021  
 

 
 
 
 
Mr Jake Morgan 
Director of Community Services 
Carmarthenshire County Council 
County Hall 
Carmarthenshire 
SA31 1JP 
  
Date: 06 April 2021 
  
Dear Director 
 
Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) Assurance Check 2021: Carmarthenshire County Council 
This letter summarises the findings of our assurance check on 1 February to 5 February. 
The purpose of this assurance check was to review how well local authority social services 
continue to help and support adults and children with a focus on safety and well-being. 
 
Overview  
 
In March 2020, CIW suspended its routine programme in response to the Covid-19 
pandemic to enable local authorities and providers to focus fully on responding to the 
challenging circumstances. A revised programme with local authorities recommenced in 
September to provide assurance about how people are being safeguarded and well-being 
promoted during the pandemic. We considered safety and well-being of people who use or 
may need to use services, the safety of services they access and the safety and well-being 
of people who work in services. We focused our key lines of enquiry within the four 
principles of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 and have recorded our 
judgements and findings aligned to these: People - Voice and Control, Prevention, 
Partnerships and Integration, Well-being. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd  
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi. 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh. Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding. 

Tudalen 66



 

37 

Our focus was on:  

1. How well is the local authority discharging its statutory functions to keep people 
who need care and support and carers who need support, safe and promote their 
wellbeing during the pandemic? 

2. What is the local authority doing to prevent the need for children to come into 
care; and are children returning home to their families quickly enough where safe 
to do so? 

3. How well is the local authority providing early help, care and support and seamless 
transitions between services for disabled children and their families? 

Summary of findings and priorities for improvement:  

People - voice and control – We asked: How well is the local authority ensuring people, 
carers and practitioners are having their voices heard, making informed choices, and 
maintaining control over their lives. While also balancing the recommendations and 
requirements made by Public Health Wales and Welsh Government to limit the spread of 
COVID-19? 

Overall we found the local authority ensures people’s voices are heard, their choices 
respected and people routinely achieved self-identified outcomes. Leaders have a line of 
sight on front line practice with clear plans that have led to creative practice. 

People’s circumstances were represented in the files we reviewed, a personal element was 
noted in assessment and care and support plans. Practitioner analysis was clear and 
focused with a good balance of information proportionate to circumstance. This provided 
evidence of practitioners who prioritised and focused on understanding life for people they 
were working with. For example, we reviewed a safeguarding intervention where the 
practitioner made links to the third sector (Tir Dewi which provided on farm support) and 
other local support to meet the outcomes identified by the person. 

People were able to have an influence over services they received and were supported by 
advocacy as appropriate. This supports a focus on what matters to people, the outcomes 
they want to achieve, and how they can use their own strengths and resources to promote 
their own wellbeing. The mental capacity assessments we reviewed indicated there were 
robust systems and processes in place to ensure people’s mental capacity was assessed 
appropriately when needed. Health partners indicated there were strong links between 
social care and health for this process. 

We found many examples of direct payments helping people to have flexibility in the care 
and support they received. People, including carers, were given the opportunity to tailor and 
manage their own support through use of direct payments. There was evidence of direct 
payments being utilised during the pandemic as a means of providing alternative respite. 
We found instances of carers’ needs being considered and supported alongside the cared 
for person, these were often considered in an integrated holistic assessment. There was a 
clear intention recognised to support carers during the pandemic; one carer for example, 
told us about how they were able to maintain employment during the pandemic with support 
provided. 

Tudalen 67



 

38 

Carers’ needs were also recognised and responded to in children’s services with support 
ranging from financial, practical to therapeutic; all made available according to need. We 
found practitioners working to engage parents in complex circumstances. Where the local 
authority had shared parental responsibility there was clear evidence identified of parents 
being involved or attempts to achieve inclusion in decision making through attendance at 
legal meetings, conferences and reviews. 

We found the Welsh language ‘Active Offer’ was being promoted with recognition of 
people’s first language recorded and services being delivered in people’s chosen language. 
Preferred language is recognised as a key factor in building effective relationships between 
people and practitioners. It is important the local authority builds on the ‘Active Offer’ for 
those people who are bilingual and explicitly address their preferred language in the 
provision of a service. 

The geography and demographic of the local authority covers a large footprint with a range 
of services covering both highly populated and some very isolated rural areas. There was 
indication from some adult services staff that it can be difficult to keep track of the 
community based 3rd sector and volunteer resources available, this has the potential to 
limit options and information made available to people. This is an area the local authority 
should review to ensure the workforce has access to information about the range of 
services available. 

Practitioners had high regard for approachable and supportive managers. The local 
authority has a culture of co-production and personal outcomes being developed with 
people and driven by leaders across the organisation. Staff have a shared motivation to 
work promptly and effectively with families. There is a clear strength based approach 
adopted across the service, evident in what we found about how social workers prioritise 
communication. The workforce had a high level of competence in how to work with people, 
this has been maintained as far as possible during the pandemic. Staff told us training on 
line has been available and is accessible to partners. Given the pandemic circumstances 
we found staff morale was very good. 

Prevention - We asked: To what extent is the local authority successful in promoting 
prevention and reducing need for increased or formal support from statutory agencies? 

We found a positive integrated approach to a culture of prevention through joint working, 
supportive infrastructures across social and health care and aligned delivery systems. This 
was evident in a prudent approach to resource allocation ensuring the right help was 
available at the right time, this prevents escalation of need and improves the quality of the 
individual’s journey through the health and social care system. We found services such as 
the Emotional Health Support team, Edge of Care and Camau Bach have been planned 
and aligned to focus on the same aim. Files had clear personal outcomes recorded, 
particularly important in complex situations requiring co-ordination of support to address 
eligible need. 

In adult services, the Delta / Connect project has been successful in promoting prevention 
and early intervention and reducing need for increased or formal support from statutory 
agencies. Staff and managers understood the need to ensure people are receiving 
appropriate care and support as well as the importance of making the best uses of 
resources, especially so during the pandemic. We saw evidence of enhanced use of 

Tudalen 68



 

39 

technology to support people’s safety as well as reduce loneliness and isolation. Bespoke 
individualised equipment was provided to support peoples’ well-being with plans monitored 
through proactive calls and a 24/7 welfare response focusing on community based 
solutions. This enabled people to be supported at home and whenever possible, avoiding 
the need for admission to hospital or residential care. 

Practitioners said there was a focus on preventative services in the local authority, with the 
availability of step down and community resources to support people. Many of these 
services have not been available during the pandemic, but we heard of communities 
coming together and developing services. 

In response to the pandemic there has been investment to support acute and field 
hospitals, with the local authority appointing a team manager to facilitate hospital 
discharges from West Wales General and Prince Phillip hospitals and support field 
hospitals. Since November 2020 the Well-being officers have been facilitating hospital 
discharges especially for people who do not have eligible needs for care and support. The 
community responders is another service the local authority has commissioned via Delta, 
using Transformation funding. Community responders have supported people to remain at 
home rather than be admitted to hospital and have also supported people to settle back 
home following a hospital admission. 

We identified an encouraging culture of staff working together to the same aim. The 
approach to working with families was understood, there was a shared understanding in 
children’s and adult services. In children’s services, the pod meetings were embedded and 
highly regarded by all staff as an effective and supportive mechanism for themselves and 
the families they supported. These meetings combine a systemic and strengths based 
approach to evaluating work with families. 

Our review of files found timely and proportionate interventions to support people’s 
independence and to remain at home with families when it was safe for them to do so, 
taking in to account individual wishes. In children’s services risks were dynamically 
evaluated to ensure decisions to instigate moves into care were made at points when 
relevant thresholds were met. We found early intervention to address problems before they 
escalated; this is an important contributor to improved stability of placements and security 
for children. Placement support was evident in many files we reviewed. 

Partnership and Integration - We asked: To what extent is the local authority able to 
assure itself opportunities for partnership working are positively exploited to maximise 
person centred planning and ensure integrated service delivery and service sustainability? 

At the individual level we found services co-produced based on a relationship of equals 
between practitioners and people who needed care and support and carers who needed 
support. Success was measured by gathering information about whether support was 
achieving the things that matter to people. There was evidence of practitioners developing 
professional working relationships with people built upon co-operation and shared 
understanding of what matters. People were supported to identify what matters to them and 
how they might achieve their personal well-being outcomes. The outcomes were clearly 
described and the actions to achieve them identified. 

Tudalen 69



 

40 

We had conversations with care leavers about their positive experiences; many of whom 
were still being supported by foster carers, others were in When I am Ready arrangements, 
and in further education. 

Partnerships were found to be working well at all levels and delivering an integrated 
sustainable approach to meeting need and promoting well-being in line with legislation and 
expectations. Co-production was advanced and communities were engaged. 

The local authority demonstrated opportunities for partnership working with health 
colleagues have been positively and successfully promoted to produce positive outcomes 
for people. Integrated services and posts have provided the foundations for joint working 
across health and social care. We found practitioners from different sectors and services 
working effectively together. This is significant as effective partnership working contributes 
to strengths based, person-centred plans that maximise potential for increased 
independence. We were told there could be disagreements about funding between health 
and social care packages of care and different interpretations about the lead care 
management practitioner. There was no evidence we found of adverse impact on people 
because of this. 

Our review of files identified information sharing taking place, we were advised multi-
agency regional training is being planned to further promote information sharing across 
agencies. When children or adults were identified at being at risk of harm, strategy 
meetings were convened in a timely manner and information to inform decision making 
was shared by professionals in attendance. For both children and adults, even where 
decisions were not necessarily welcomed, a focus on engagement between practitioners 
and people ensured these were accepted in good faith and people understood what was 
expected of them. 

We found a strong emphasis on professional disciplines working together; for example an 
education psychologist being part of the 0-25 Disability Team and other specialist posts in 
this team providing specialist knowledge. We received positive responses from staff about 
the 0-25 Team structural changes that occurred last year. 

We saw how school and education staff worked closely with social workers; teachers 
providing a nurturing environment for vulnerable children and fully contributing to care and 
support. We found services commissioned through education colleagues making a positive 
difference to children’s outcomes. In children’s services we heard about good relationships 
with paediatricians but more limited benefits from interactions with Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health Services (CAMHS). 

Providers told us about good communication and positive meetings with local authority 
commissioners during the pandemic. They said there was good communication and a 
culture of working collaboratively and making decisions together. We heard how the 
relationship between providers and care management teams had been strengthened during 
the pandemic. 

A challenge for the local authority has been the reduced capacity of some partner 
organisations during the pandemic; for example we were told school nurses had been 
redeployed and local authority practitioners found this hindered the assessment and 
planning process. Some Third Sector services were limited in their offer of support due to 

Tudalen 70



 

41 

strict Covid rules; this caused additional burden for front line practitioners. Conversely, we 
found safeguarding meetings had continued through the pandemic period and practitioners 
said remote meetings had resulted in improved attendance by partners. 

Well-being - We asked: To what extent is the local authority promoting well-being, 
ensuring people maintain their safety and achieve positive outcomes that matter to them? 

The local authority has exercised its functions under the Social Services and Well-being 
(Wales) Act 2014 to ensure it makes a positive contribution to the well-being of people who 
need care and support and carers who need support. At an individual level this has 
included seeking out the person’s wishes and feelings, respectful practice, building upon 
their circumstances and capabilities. Working in partnership with people to develop creative 
solutions was evident, improving the quality of care, securing well-being and preventing the 
development of people’s needs for care and support. Identifying people’s outcomes was a 
priority rather than process. 

There was a collaborative response by all agencies to the pandemic including the 
development of a regional Escalation Policy for care homes. The Regional Safeguarding 
Board provided oversight and assurance in relation to safeguarding practice for vulnerable 
children and adults. During the pandemic we saw efforts made to maintain contact with 
people, with statutory visits and meetings taking place virtually but also some risk assessed 
face to face contact as appropriate. 

The local authority has effectively promoted the well-being of people to ensure timely care 
and support was available to maintain their independence and safety. This was evident as 
we found assessments clearly recorded views in plain language with emphasis on personal 
circumstances, strengths, risk, barriers and what needs to happen to achieve personal 
outcomes. Care First prompts were helpful, they enabled practitioners to clearly articulate 
what they were worried about. The elements the person seeking support and protection 
brings to the process were recognised and valued. 

Co-produced solutions were evident and there were positive outcomes for people subject to 
safeguarded interventions. From the files we reviewed, we found safeguarding enquiries 
and investigations conducted in line with statutory requirements. Strategy meetings and 
discussions were effective and involved relevant agencies. We found good analysis of risk, 
protection plans in place and action taken when necessary. Providers and partners said 
they were supported by the adult safeguarding team; their willingness to offer advice, 
guidance and assist with training of social care workers was acknowledged. Health 
colleagues indicated when things went wrong, social care and health would work 
collaboratively and openly to identify learning opportunities. 

The pod meetings in children’s services clearly promoted a holistic and strengths-based 
approach to working with families. This was demonstrated in records that clearly articulated 
outcome focused planning. Plans outlined clear achievable goals to safeguard children and 
improve their well-being through the provision of a range of services best suited to their 
needs. We reviewed a plan that included stringent risk measures to ensure a child’s safety 
over the pandemic period. This comprised daily unannounced visits which focused on risk 
whilst also evidencing the quality of a positive working relationship between family and 
practitioner. 

Tudalen 71



 

42 

 

We saw care and support being adapted to meet peoples’ changing needs and agencies 
contributing to the review process. Relationships and communication with people was 
collaborative in this process. Strengths-based conversations had replaced the traditional 
needs-based assessments with voice and choice prominent in the practice reviewed in both 
adult and children’s services. 

The files we reviewed demonstrated that whilst every effort was made to sustain 
independence, adults were also supported to make pragmatic decisions about when the time 
was right to move into care homes so they and could be more safely supported. 

In children’s services we found effective support from the multi-agency group and a good 
standard of reviews for care experienced children led by Independent Reviewing Officers. 
They had a mechanism in place to seek assurance about well-being in between formal 
reviews and hear from children and their carers. 

Care Leavers were highly complementary about Personal Assistants (PAs) on the whole; 
they valued the dedicated support provided by PAs. There was, however, some feedback 
about inconsistency in support. 

Methods  

• we reviewed documentation supplied in advance of our visit 

• we spoke with carers and people who were receiving or had received care and support, 
including nine care leavers 

• we reviewed 30 files 

• we held ten case tracking interviews with practitioners, managers and carers 

• we held four focus groups 

• we administered nine surveys 

• we observed a carers champion meeting 

Next Steps 

We have identified strengths and areas for priority improvement and we will review the 
progress of these areas through our performance evaluation review meetings with the heads 
of service and director. We expect the areas of improvement we have identified to be 
included in the local authority’s improvement plans. We would like to extend our thanks to all 
those who helped with the arrangements for this assurance check and to those people and 
staff who spoke with us. 

Please see our Privacy Notice at https://careinspectorate.wales/how-we-use-yourinformation  

Yours sincerely, 

Lou Bushell-Bauers 
Head of Local Authority Inspection 
Care Inspectorate Wales 

 

Tudalen 72

https://careinspectorate.wales/how-we-use-yourinformation


 

43 

  Appendix 3 – Care Home Review 
 

 

 

Review of Carmarthenshire County Council’s 

Support to Care Homes during the Covid 19 

Pandemic 

June 2020 

Tudalen 73



 

44 

 

Contents  

PURPOSE OF THE REVIEW:.........................................................................................................46 
TIMESCALE: ................................................................................................................................46 
METHODOLOGY: ........................................................................................................................46 
LEADERSHIP/SUPPORT/GUIDANCE............................................................................................47 
RECOMMENDATIONS ................................................................................................................49 
COMMUNICATION.....................................................................................................................51 
RECOMMENDATIONS: ..............................................................................................................51 
HEALTH & HOSPITALS ...............................................................................................................51 
RECOMMENDATIONS: ..............................................................................................................52 
PPE/CONSUMABLES.................................................................................................................52 
RECOMMENDATIONS ..............................................................................................................53 
INFECTION/PREVENTION CONTROL ........................................................................................53 
RECOMMENDATIONS ..............................................................................................................54 
STAFFING..................................................................................................................................54 
RECOMMENDATIONS ..............................................................................................................55 
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY..................................................................................................55 
RECOMMENDATIONS ..............................................................................................................56  
TRACE & PROTECT .................................................................................................................  56 
RECOMMENDATIONS ..............................................................................................................57 
CHILDREN SERVICES/MENTAL HEALTH & LEARNING DISABILITIES .........................................57 
RECOMMENDATIONS ..............................................................................................................57 
FAMILIES/FRIENDS/VISITS........................................................................................................58 
RECOMMENDATIONS ..............................................................................................................58  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 74



 

45 

PURPOSE OF THE REVIEW:  

Carmarthenshire County Council requested an independent review of its 

approach to supporting Care Homes through the Covid-19 pandemic, with a view 

to creating an evidence base of approach taken and identify any lessons learnt 

that need to be addressed or implemented going forward. 

The picture is still emerging with considerable pressure on homes at the time of 
producing this report as the second/third COVID wave has a significant impact on 
the functionality of homes. Whilst there were significant challenges across all 
sectors nationally in March to May the purpose is not to apportion blame but to 
ensure early lessons are learnt and areas for further investigation are identified. 

TIMESCALE:  

The period under consideration is from March 1st leading up to lockdown through 

until 31st
 of August 2020, when the lockdown restrictions were lifted, and regulations 

eased. 

I have also made reference to the current period from 31st Aug through to 

December as it is having an impact on responses as we hit a second wave of the 

pandemic. 

METHODOLOGY:   

Interviews: 16 staff across the Local Authority, Commissioning and Health 

partners were interviewed individually via Teams. I also attended 2 meetings with 

Senior Managers, again via Teams. A small number of staff were unable to be 

interviewed due work pressures and commitments. 

A Snap Survey was distributed to all Care Homes in the Adult Services and 3 

establishments within the Children services sector. 

Response was good. 

41 Adult Care Homes and 3 Children Residential settings were approached. 

30 establishments completed the survey which saw 68% response rate 

Tudalen 75



 

46 

All 6 Care Home settings who experienced Covid-19 outbreak were approached for 
further information regarding the support process. 3 responded and were interviewed 
via Teams. 
 

I had access via Teams Files to the numerous Policies/Procedures and processes 
adopted to deal with Covid-19. A key document that I referenced was the Nursing & 
Residential Care Homes, Supported Living and Extra Care Risk & Escalation 

Management Policy v1.5; This document developed initially in Carmarthenshire is 
now jointly agreed between Hywel Dda University Health Board and the 3 partner 
Local Authorities. 
 
I also had sight of the Chronology of Communication to Care Homes detailing 
information, support and guidance offered to the sector. 
I adopted a broad Signs of Safety methodology in formulating the questions. 
What worked well, what didn’t work so well and what were/are the challenges. 

The Scoping and discussions commenced on 22nd October, with the 

Questionnaire and interviews commencing on 10th November and running 
through November and early December. The last interview took place on the 10th 
December. 

The key areas covered were as follows: 

• Provision of overall advice and guidance to independent and Local 

Authority care homes. 

• Infection, Prevention and Control. 

• Sourcing and supply of PPE. 

• Facilitation of hospital patient discharge to care homes. 

• Management of outbreaks in care homes, to include involvement of other 

agencies including medical professionals. 

• Identification, management and escalation of safeguarding concerns. 

• Management of Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards. 

• Testing in care homes. 

• Overall support to care homes, including support to the workforce and 

financial support. 

• Overall support to care home residents and families. 

• Partnership working, particularly with Hywel Dda Health Board, 

surrounding all of the above. 

Leadership surrounding all of the above  

LEADERSHIP/SUPPORT/GUIDANCE  

The universal feedback for the Local Authority from the Snap Survey and the 

interviews held with Staff across the Local Authority, Health and Care sector is of a 

County Council that displayed strong, decisive leadership. This is referenced as 

applicable from the Chief Executive and Statutory Director down throughout the 

Tudalen 76



 

47 

organisation. There is evidence of the effectiveness of the Gold/Silver/Bronze 

Command structure, staff were clear where they fitted into the structure and the roles 

they had to play. It has been noted on countless occasions in interview and survey 

that the ability to make agile decisions, responding swiftly in a solution focussed way; 

that staff had autonomy to make decisions and were able to problem solve. 

The Leader of the Council and Lead member demonstrate considerable support 

for the sector in particular advocating nationally in relation to PPE supply and 

testing with ministers throughout the early days of the pandemic 

The effectiveness of Inter-agency working was evident from the outset to all staff 

and daily SITREP meetings established. Senior Managers within CCC met 2 x 

daily and this pattern was replicated further down the management structure to 

ensue staff were fully briefed. There has been an effective audit trail of decision 

making and policies have been adapted as the situation has changed. 

Safeguarding has continued to be a consideration during the Covid pandemic. The 

Regional Safeguarding Board has led on the discussions and considerations 

around safeguarding at what has been an extremely difficult time for the Care 

sector. There were weekly meetings held to consider the safeguarding 

requirements, with a Covid focus. There have challenging discussions around 

safeguarding issues, at what point does the organisation become concerned about 

practice etc; these have been addressed at all senior management meetings. The 

Care Homes Escalation meetings did consider what was needed in the Care 

homes to support and promote safe practice whether that be 

staffing/equipment/support or advice. The safeguarding concerns that did come 

through have been around poor practice where processed weren’t followed 

correctly. 

The Coronavirus Act 2020 did not make any changes to the relevance or 

application of the Mental Capacity Act 2005. It did however mean that Local 
Authorities had to make significant changes to how it addressed meeting the 

requirements of the law. Carmarthenshire worked with its regional colleagues to 

produce guidance for staff. Work was undertaken to review the assessments and 
the review process. Skype and Teams 

meetings were facilitated, although they did pose questions around the 

independence and efficacy of the process. Carmarthenshire sent its Guidance to 

Welsh Government for its consideration and it was commended. The Regional 

Group has continued to meet and consider whether the policy remains relevant 

and that the principles of the MCA 2005 are still being met. 

The setting up of a dedicated Commissioning Team which was available 24/7 to 

advise and proactively support was also universally welcomed. They provided a 

centralised response, reporting and decision/discharge mechanism for the Care 

sector that was vitally important. The Local Authority was also ahead of the curve in 

recognising the potential impact of Covid-19 on market stability and introduced 

payments to help cover voids and extra costs such as deep cleaning and extra care 

Tudalen 77



 

48 

costs in the sector. Covid positive homes were offered extra support and assistance 

and this was highly valued. 

Carmarthenshire CC also adopted a Safe Hospital Discharge Policy to support the 

Care Homes sector, insisting on Covid- tests prior to discharge. All discharge 

requests were processed through the Commissioning Team to help ease the 

burden on the Care Homes. This process appears to have been less well 

understood by Health colleagues within the Hospital setting and is something that 

will need addressing jointly going forward. 

The focus was very much on keeping residents safe and on their care needs. Staff 

across the Local Authority were quick to pull together and that feeling of unity and 

support has remained; Staff were re-deployed to new roles to support efforts 

across the services. A number of challenges have emerged that will need attention 

in the longer term. Most staff spoken to feel it is too early to even contemplate an 

exit strategy yet, still feeling very much in the eye of the storm as the second wave 

hits our communities. 

Monitoring of the Care Homes was suspended during the first lockdown. There 

were restrictions on visitors to the care homes. Staff from within Health were re-

deployed to other Covid response roles, this continues to date. Health staff did note 

that when they did go back in to undertake mass TTP testing they were able to have 

some oversight. The Commissioning Team has been dedicated to focussing on the 

Covid Response as well. The CCC and Health were dependent therefore on any 

other professionals who went into the homes to be the eyes and ears and to report 

any concerns. CIW/HIW have undertaken their visits virtually. There haven’t been 

any concerns reported. 

There are concerns about future financial austerity impact on the Care Sector and 

Health & Social Care in general post the pandemic response. Carmarthenshire 

acted before National funding was agreed, at risk, with a formula that was then 

largely adopted by Welsh Government. Subsequent national funding providing top 

ups and void payments has been effective in stabilising the sector financially. The 

Care sector has depended on this support to sustain it. 

RECOMMENDATIONS  

The Exit Strategy needs to be as equally robust and well planned as the 

Pandemic response- recovery will take longer 

Consider a Review of the Safeguarding response during Covid Pandemic, 

possibly as a Regional Safeguarding Board with a focus on what worked 

well/what has been the learning 

Build on and maintain the extended partnership working, maintaining the 

ability to make pragmatic agile decisions, with less bureaucracy. 

 

Tudalen 78



 

49 

Mortality in Commissioned Residential Placements for Older People 

 

 

 

 

 

 2017 2018 2019 2020 

January 37 49 30 47 

February 32 36 30 40 

March 36 39 33 34 

April 21 24 24 52 

May 21 34 25 44 

June 13 27 23 29 

July 24 19 17 26 

August 32 14 16 26 

September 25 17 28 25 

October 32 25 29 30 

November 22 24 29 28 

December 36 32 40  

 

There was significant challenge in March to May 2020 with a specific spike in the 
mortality rates of residents. A small number of homes were tragically severely 

affected with a significant number of residents dying within 28 days of a positive test 

and further work on how improved care. Addressing this and protecting residents 
has been the highest possible priority across homes, health, and the local authority. 

This work across infection control, intervention in homes, testing, treatment, 

intervention, and care has dramatically improved the position with a lower rate of 
mortality in homes than pre COVID periods despite a rise in the number of homes 
affected 

 

Tudalen 79



 

50 

COMMUNICATION   

In March and April of 2020 communication and guidance nationally was widely seen 

as inconsistent around the supply and use of PPE and admissions. There was 

significant challenge for all care homes as the evidence base of what was needed to 

protect staff and residents was seen to run ahead of appropriate national guidance 

being released. This left local authorities/ commissioners unable to be clear and 

consistent with homes. At this early stage considerable concern was raised with 

Welsh Government as to the vulnerability of care staff and residents where guidance 

and supply fell short of what was needed. Whilst some Care Homes highlighted that 

information and guidance was too slow in the first few weeks of the pandemic 

(leaving some care homes feeling somewhat adrift and confused) they do 

acknowledge that this was a completely new scenario for everyone. 

All staff acknowledged that the volume of information flowing from various sources, 

the changing guidelines and pace at which the information was coming through 

was a significant challenge nationally. It has been commented on in several 

interviews that once the CCC machinery swung into action and started getting a 

handle on the information flow from central government then the support was 

evident and effective. 

As noted above communication with the Care sector was viewed positively. At the 

early stage improvements could be made in co-ordinating phone contacts. 

Managers talked of 5/6 daily phone calls asking for similar data/information when 

they were stretched. Managers felt conflicted between dealing with administrative 

matters when they were needed on the floor to support caring duties. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS:   

Consideration for a Regional Communication Team comprising LA & Health 

to craft clear joint communication from one source 

HEALTH & HOSPITALS 

The role of the Frailty Consultant in supporting Care Homes with Covid outbreaks 

during the early weeks was been particularly commended. Health colleagues 

report that the swift ability to make decisions on hospital discharges without 

overly worrying about funding stream/splits was also critically important. Improved 

co-ordination and clarity on roles between this consultant and GP’S assisted as 

there were some risks of a lack of clinical coordination. 

There were varied responses in terms of GP support to the Care homes during 

the pandemic; some Managers advised that GP practices were reluctant to 

attend the Care Homes; others felt the service was supportive. Some practices 

managed their patient lists virtually over the phone, with weekly surgeries 

undertaken remotely. 

Tudalen 80



 

51 

One area worthy of note raised by a number of staff was the issue of DNACPR 

forms. Some Care Homes felt a “blanket” approach had been taken with regard to 

their residents and they have since removed the DNACPR at the resident’s 

request. There was also concern from a Manager spoken to about a letter issued 

by a GP cluster very early on advising that residents would not be proactively 

treated. This caused tremendous upset for residents, families and staff. I believe 

the matter was raised with the Health Board and addressed rapidly. 

The Hospital Discharge Policy has also been a hot topic for the Care Homes and 

Commissioning Team and evoked quite a response. What is clear is there appeared 

to be a lack of understanding and sometimes, even, an acknowledgement of the 

existence of the policy by ward-based Hospital staff. The Care Homes have felt very 

well supported during the pandemic with the Commissioning Team co-ordinating and 

agreeing hospital discharges. This will need to be closely monitored as we go into 

the second wave of the pandemic and the pressure on both Hospitals and Care 

Homes increase from staffing pressures or Covid positive perspective. 

Several of the care homes also noted that they have been unable to get 

Occupational Therapy/ Physiotherapy or Dietician visits into the Care Homes 

since lockdown lifted in August. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS:   
 

Consideration be given to offer joint training with GP clusters to manage 

expectations of Care Homes around the support they need 

To review the DNACPR processes and procedures and ensure that they are 

applied in a person-centred way with the needs and best interest of the 

residents at the heart of the decision. 

Discussion between the Local Authority and Health regarding the Safe 

Discharge Policy and how Care Homes can be supported to feel confident 

and trust the Hospital assessment of patients in future 

PPE/CONSUMABLES  

Carmarthenshire CC had clear objectives on what they were trying to achieve for the 

Care Homes and care sector across Health and Social Care. Evidence from the Team 

suggests they achieved this from the outset. Prior to a centralised store supplied by 

Welsh Government the county managed its supply well, getting close to running out, 

but never actually doing so. There is evidence that seconded staff worked tirelessly to 

ensure all Care Homes were supplied. No care homes lacked supply once effective 

national guidance was established. 

The changing guidance caused anxiety, conflict, uncertainty and upset in the early 

weeks. Considerable time politically and at the most senior levels was spent trying to 

resolve the challenges in this area. Senior council officers report significant political 

Tudalen 81



 

52 

support from the Lead member, Leader and Chief Executive in trying to resolve these 

very difficult issues. Once shared services were established and up and running the 

PPE supply has not been an issue. The PPE Team have worked closely with 

Commissioning, Environmental Health and Infection Control Team. They have 

modelled the demand across the Care Homes, accounting for multiple scenarios and 

have ensured that a consistent supply of PPE has been maintained. There was 

proactive support from across the Council to source suitable storage sites. Dispatch 

of PPE has been efficient and responsive. 

Corporate Health and Safety have complemented the work of the Infection Control 

Nursing Team by providing online training for staff on the “donning /doffing” 

procedures and clear instructions on how to prevent cross contamination. This was 

a good example of effective joint working with the health board responsive to the 

care sector. 

A weekly survey is sent out to establish a baseline of PPE stocks held in each Care 

home. Where care homes have tested positive for Covid- the PPE team have 

calculated the number of likely changes by the number of interventions likely to be 

required and sent out Booster packs. 

The challenge going forward as we emerge from the Covid Pandemic will be to 
ensure we continue to maintain good PPE practice and protocols. There will also 
be a challenge for Care Homes in the private sector who are currently being 
provided PPE from the Welsh Government central supply; again, something for 
consideration in the exit strategy around extra costs and fee setting structures. 

RECOMMENDATIONS  

Local Authorities to consider holding sufficient stocks of PPE/Consumables 
(such as dedicated waste bins) that could be quickly deployed in the event of 
any future infectious outbreak. To be included in any Emergency Plan going 
forward. 

INFECTION/PREVENTION CONTROL 

This has been a front-line service that has been universally praised by all. The 

Team have been in direct contact with the Care homes, on the floor offering, 

support advice and guidance. They have made themselves available at all times 

of day and night to support staff. Their input has been critical in ensuring the Care 

Homes have responded as well as they have in mitigating the risks as far as 

possible. 

Environmental Health became more involved from the May period onwards to 

support the Infection Control effort. They developed an effective working 

partnership with Infection Control. There were challenges for the Team in terms of 

the layout of some of the Care Homes; many are in older buildings, not purpose 

built. Zoning the residents care in Covid positive homes became quite a logistical 

challenge. It was made more difficult in Care Homes where you had residents who 

Tudalen 82



 

53 

“walk with purpose”. Moving residents out of their rooms was also a challenge, 

leaving their personal effects and the comfort of their own rooms. 

The necessity for deep cleaning in Covid Positive Care Homes also became an 

issue and highlighted how in some homes the Carers also double up as the 

cleaners. There has been a significant amount of learning in this area on the impact 

of good infection control. 

The challenge will be in ensuring that Infection Control remains a high 

priority and its importance maintained in the future. 

RECOMMENDATIONS  

LA Commissioning & Health to work with the Care Home sector going forward 

to ensure that clear policies, procedures, advice, training and guidance re PPE 

and Infection Control remain central to good quality practice within Care 

Homes/Dom care 

The role of Environmental Health in Infection Control to be established and 
resourced as a permanent function 

 

STAFFING   

The first priority is to acknowledge and commend the dedication of the Care Home 

staff and their Managers- they have gone above and beyond any job description. 

They have been honest about their fears, anxieties and struggles; they have kept 

providing quality care in a loving compassionate way to people who have been 

separated from seeing loved ones. They have sat with residents who were facing 

the final journey and ensured they didn’t pass alone. They have displayed a “can do 

attitude” and have supported each other. 

Other Local Authority staff have elected to be re-deployed into the care sector 

and have provided invaluable support. All have adapted to what was required 

of them, be that changing shift patterns to working extra shifts. Many have 

undertaken roles that were completely outside their normal experience. 

Many Care Homes noted that the Local Authority supported swiftly when there 

were staffing issues. There appeared to be more challenges in the Nursing 

Homes where it was more difficult to get qualified Nurses. Bank agency rates 

were £3,000 per shift and this cost was prohibitive to most Nursing homes. 

It has also been noted that Care Home staff are being called upon to assist in the 

assessment and review processes of residents in a different way to previously. 

Social Workers and Nurse Assessors are assessing & reviewing virtually which 

necessitates a member of the care Home staff providing them with updates and 

information from the files and care notes. Prior to Covid this would have been done 

by the Social Worker/Nurse Assessor when visiting the home. Managers find 

Tudalen 83



 

54 

supporting this a challenge when staffing numbers haven’t been increased to 

support the extra demands. 

There is a wider mental health issue to be considered when looking at the exit 

strategy. Staff, especially those in Covid hit homes, have been emotionally 

stretched and many are left traumatised at seeing so many deaths in a short 

period. The fear of Covid and its impact has been very real for all. 

From a broader Local Authority perspective all staff spoken to have acknowledged 

that the notion of a 5-day working week disappeared when the pandemic hit. The 

Council has made sure that staff were available 7 days a week from very early on. 

There were teething problems early on when the scale of the pandemic and the 

impact wasn’t known, e.g., being able to access stores for supplies. Once the scale 

of issues was understood the Local Authority responded effectively. 

There is a greater sense that staffing may well become an issue during this second 
wave. Increased testing of people is seeing an increase in numbers needing to self-
isolate. Also, an increase in community transmission which will inevitably put 
pressure on services. Added to this Managers talking of increase in staff anxiety/ 
Covid fatigue in the approach to this second wave. During the first wave people 
were running on adrenalin. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS   

Staff support and counselling should be considered 

Lead on the parity of esteem debate for Care Home sector workers that will 

inevitably arise post pandemic 

Consideration is given to creating additional mental health capacity as part of 
the COVID exit strategy. 
 
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

From a Care Homes perspective one of the major areas of concern is the lack of 

internet access across the homes. It appears to be the same picture pretty much 
across the Local Authority and Private sector. 

Care Home Managers have laptops and have been able to attend Teams Meetings 

etc with their line manager and also with fellow Managers. This was seen as 

extremely useful as a source of support and information sharing and the meetings 
have continued at the behest of the Managers. 

It was reflected that much of the work in the care homes is paper based and as they 

tried to address this by trying to adopt a paperless system, they were hampered by 
the lack of available equipment. In the Local Authority homes the senior care staff 

and the carers do not have access to laptops. The carers themselves have not had 

local authority e mail address. This caused problems if staff were self-isolating and 
could potentially work from home writing or updating care plans. The frustration felt 
by Managers was evident. 

Tudalen 84



 

55 

Wi-Fi connectivity was an issue highlighted by the majority of Care Homes. 

Ensuring that relatives could remain in virtual contact with families and friends 

during lockdown this was problematic. Several homes had the equipment but it’s 

ability to be used was patchy; either there was no internet access, or signal 
would drop off mid-conversation. 

There was also an issue in the private sector of residents being told if they 
wanted internet access then they would need to pay. Many Managers felt given 
the required use of technology that Wi-Fi access should be a given. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS  

Consideration should be given to an investment programme in the IT 

infrastructure in Local Authority Care Homes, enabling all staff the 

opportunity to access work e mails, information relayed digitally, access 

online training etc in line with the majority of the Council’s workforce. 

Similar scoping and consideration with the independent sector Care Homes- 

although resolving that might necessitate Welsh Govt support to grant fund 

such a scheme. 

Consider Wi-Fi access and increased use of smart technology to improve 

people’s lives and maximise independence within care settings and include 

as part of the contractual requirements/negotiations. IT/Internet access to 

be a consideration when formulating care plans, how will prospective 

residents maintain contact with family and friends 

TRACK, TRACE & PROTECT 

Once the service got over the initial teething problems the co-ordination has 

worked well. There has been swift mobilisation into care homes, with proactive 

calls and advice & guidance. 

All have commented that the Health Board testing service was consistently 

reliable with a swift turnaround. Staff were on fortnightly testing; some have 

resumed weekly due to the spike in community transmission. 

There was an early challenge with Local Authority unable to get the test 

results of employees from the Health Board due to confidentiality and 

governance issues. 

It seems the “Lighthouse testing” is proving more of a challenge from a resource 

intensive perspective as well as accuracy & reliability. There is also now the 

challenge of mass testing and finding higher numbers of cases; all has an impact on 
the Care Homes, staffing wise. 

There is understandable caution from care homes with regard to the testing of 

visitors to Care Homes especially now we are seeing a rise in infection rates. 

Tudalen 85



 

56 

RECOMMENDATIONS   
 
NONE 
 
CHILDREN SERVICES/MENTAL HEALTH & LEARNING DISABILITIES 
 
Whilst Children Services, Mental Health and Learning Disability services were not 
included in initial core meetings, which focussed on older adults because of the high 
level of risk on older persons, they did nevertheless follow the same protocols. There 
were 3 specific units within Children Services and the RI/ Managers held their own 
meetings with the site managers. Children Services sits within Education but has the 
same regulatory requirements from a Residential care perspective as Adults. 
The Senior Managers ensured they were the direct contacts with their care homes to 
be able to offer the support and guidance. All the children that accessed the facilities 
had their care needs reviewed and arrangements put in place to support. There were 
some concerns as to where Children Residential services would have accessed 
staffing support if it had been a necessity due to the specialised nature of the client 
group- children with complex learning disabilities. However, an escalation process was 
in place should that have been needed. 
 
Strategically the Head of Children’s services and Head of Mental Health and 
Learning Disabilities attended strategic meetings with adult services colleagues 
and the Statutory Director to ensure the response was inclusive. 

The Children services are now developing a specific Operational Policy for 

Children’s Residential Services. 

From a Mental Health and Learning Disability perspective Health worked closely with 

the Local Authority to ensure that hospital beds were reduced to take pressure from the 

acute sector. There was a great deal of proactive work undertaken to find suitable 

placement options; all the Mental Health and the vast majority of Learning Disability 

options are in the private sector. Funding agreements were reached, and it highlighted 

how quickly services can act when necessary. 

One area that was highlighted as a risk if any Learning Disability Care home had to 

close down or people needed hospitalisation. There would be a requirement for 

specialist LD nurses to care for the more complex cases. It is acknowledged that the 

services are talking about lower numbers but significant needs, but this was seen as 

an area that sector specific contingency plans could be developed. 

RECOMMENDATIONS  

Ensure Children Services/Mental Health & Learning Disabilities are 

included from the outset in any future Emergency planning around 

residential care 

Mapping the support needs of Children services/MH & LD 

Children services to develop a specific Operational Policy for Children’s 

Residential Services 

Tudalen 86



 

57 

FAMILIES/FRIENDS/VISITS  

Some care homes have been extremely innovative and resourceful in how they 

have facilitated visits once the lock down was lifted. It has, nevertheless, been and 

continues to be a challenge for the majority of Care Homes to facilitate and support 

safe visiting arrangements. 

During the summer it was far easier with some able to erect marquees or facilitate 

outdoor visits. Winter has made things far more difficult and challenging. Some homes 

have been able to create safe spaces in conservatories, others in their Day Care site 

which is closed to day users. Some have managed to utilise Skype/What’s App more 

successfully than others. 

End of life visits have been supported across the care sector, with one relative being able 
to be present, wearing the correct PPE. For families who could not attend staff have 
provided assurances that their loved one has not passed alone and had a staff member 
there with them. 
 
What is clear is that all Care homes are seeing the negative impact on 
residents of loss of contact with family and friends. Those with cognitive 
impairment cannot understand the lack of visits and struggle with virtual 
meetings. The impact of increased testing and staff testing positive there is a 
real issue in care homes rolling from one 28-day period of closure to another. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
Work with National Advisors/Regulators/LA & Health to consider and develop 
guidelines on how to promote and maintain safe visiting to Covid free 
residents when staff & other residents on site have tested positive. 
Consideration as to how to support Care Homes to develop safe visiting 
spaces and other innovative ways of maintaining contact 

+++++++++++++++++++++++++ 

I would like to thank all the staff who participated in the interviews and all 

those who contributed by completing the survey. I have been impressed 

and truly humbled by the sheer hard work and dedication of all to work 

together during this pandemic. The overriding thought for everyone has 

been to ensure the safety and wellbeing of the people they serve and the 

care of the most vulnerable in our society. 

Diolch yn fawr/Thank you 

Carys James B.A.HONS; CQSW; Dip SW 

YMGYNGHORYDD ANNIBYNNOL/INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT 

 

Tudalen 87



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 

 

Bwrdd Gweithredol   

26 Gorffennaf 2021 
 

Y Pwnc: 

POLISI YMDDYGIAD GWRTHGYMDEITHASOL A THORRI 

AMODAU TENANTIAETH 2021 

 

Y Pwrpas:  

Cynnig polisi sy'n nodi'r dull sydd i'w fabwysiadu gan y Tîm Cymdogaeth ym maes Diogelu'r 
Amgylchedd gyda golwg ar ymchwilio i gwynion am ymddygiad gwrthgymdeithasol ac 
achosion o dorri amodau tenantiaeth sy'n ymwneud â Thai Cyngor. 

Yr Argymhellion / Penderfyniadau Allweddol Sydd Eu Hangen: 

 

1. Cymeradwyo'r cynigion ar gyfer y Polisi Ymddygiad Gwrthgymdeithasol. 

 

Y Rhesymau:  
 

1. O ganlyniad i ddatblygu'r Tîm Cymdogaeth yn Adain Diogelu'r Amgylchedd yn 2018, 
mae cwynion am ymddygiad gwrthgymdeithasol wedi cynyddu'n sylweddol o tua 600 o 
ymholiadau yn 2018/19 i dros 900 yn ystod 2020/21 

2. Cyflawnwyd ymchwiliadau llwyddiannus trwy gynyddu a gwella'r gwaith a wneir mewn 
partneriaeth. Mae'r swyddogion a'r partneriaid yn sicrhau bod ymchwiliadau yn cael eu 
cynnal i achosion o ymddygiad gwrthgymdeithasol mewn tenantiaeth yn unol â 
gofynion cyfreithiol. 

3. Mae'r galw ar y gwasanaeth yn golygu bod angen blaenoriaethu cwynion er mwyn 
canolbwyntio adnoddau ar faterion mwy difrifol a allai arwain at niwed i gymdogion/i'r 
gymuned. 

Ymgynghorwyd â'r pwyllgor craffu perthnasol :    DO 
Pwyllgor Craffu Cymunedau ac Adfywio – 1af Gorffennaf 2021  

 

Angen i’r Bwrdd Gweithredol wneud penderfyniad OES  

Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad                     NAC OES  
 

YR AELOD O'R BWRDD GWEITHREDOL SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:- 

Y Cynghorydd Phillip Hughes (Deiliad Portffolio Diogelu'r Cyhoedd) 
 

Tudalen 89

Eitem Rhif  8



 

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth: 

 
Cymunedau 
 

Enw Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth: 

 
Jonathan Morgan 
 

Awdur yr Adroddiad: 

 
Sue Watts 

Swyddi: 

 

 

 

 

 
Pennaeth Cartrefi a Chymunedau 
Mwy Diogel 
 
 
Rheolwr Diogelu’r Amgylchedd 

 

Rhifau ffôn/ Cyfeiriadau E-

bost: 

 
 
 
 
01267 228960 
JMorgan@sirgar.gov.uk 
 
 
01267 228929 
SEWatts@sirgar.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 90

mailto:JMorgan@sirgar.gov.uk
mailto:SEWatts@sirgar.gov.uk


 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

EXECUTIVE BOARD 

26TH JULY 2021 

 

 

SUBJECT: 

POLICY FOR ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR AND BREACHES OF TENANCY 

2021 
 

Background 
The Neighbourhood Team in the Environmental Protection Section was developed in July 
2018.  A significant part of the service includes investigating complaints of anti-social 
behaviour relating to Council Housing properties. This team also investigates general 
statutory nuisance which also falls within the definition of anti-social behaviour (e.g. noise, 
burning, rubbish accumulation, fly tipping etc). 
Since the introduction of the team, the number of complaints and investigations with partners 
have increased steadily over time, as can be seen in the following table: 

Team 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

Neighbourhood 
Team (Council 
properties) 

 622 1019 927 

Environmental 
Protection general 
nuisance complaints 
including noise, 
burning, waste, fly 
tipping etc 

2716 2655 3486 

Total 3338 3674 4413 
 

The work is also becoming more complex, and we are spending more time on some cases 
such as evictions etc. 
Council officers and partners ensure anti-social behaviour queries are investigated in 
accordance with legal requirements. The increasing demand on the service is resulting in the 
requirement to prioritise complaints in order to focus resources on more serious issues which 
could result in harm to neighbours/community.  
It has been recognised that many anti-social behaviour complaints overlap with other 
statutory nuisance investigations particularly cross tenure. In order to get consistency in 
approach an Anti-Social Behaviour Coordinator has been employed who works with 
individuals and partners to resolve issues and prevent future escalations of complaints cross 
tenure.  
This not only improves the quality of life for the individuals concerned but also attempts to 
reduce the demands on the other sections dealing with complaints. 

Context 
Anti-Social Behaviour is defined in the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 as: 

- Conduct that has caused, or is likely to cause, harassments, alarm or distress to any 
person; 

- Conduct capable of causing a nuisance or annoyance to a person in relation to that 
person’s occupation or residential premises or; and 

Tudalen 91



 

- Conduct capable of causing housing-related nuisance or annoyance to any person. 

Most of the issues considered to be anti-social behaviour requires partnership working with 
the police, other housing providers/landlords and agencies in an attempt to remediate. 
Intelligence and sharing of information are also key in an attempt to prevent incidents 
escalating to reportable anti-social behaviour cases. 
Examples of the anti-social behaviour that the team deal with include: 
- Excessive noise (unless considered a Statutory Nuisance by Environmental Health); 
- Alcohol related incidents; 
- Nuisance from vehicles; 
- Intimidation / threatening acts or behaviour; 
- Harassment; 
- Garden conditions; 
- Drugs / substance misuse / drug dealing; 
- Vandalism / other criminal behaviour; 
- Domestic violence / abuse – using referrals to other support agencies; 
- Verbal or physical abuse / violence; 
- Pets / animal nuisance; 
- Misuse of communal areas; 
- Litter / rubbish / fly tipping; 
- Vehicle obstruction – when necessary; 
- Hate related incidents; 
- Prostitution / sexual acts; and 
- Curb crawling. 
 
The team also receive complaints such as staring or looking at someone, one off events 

(such as a party), sound of someone walking across the floor in shoes etc. These are not, 

however, considered to be ‘anti-social behaviour’ issues and are therefore not investigated. 

What is the policy trying to achieve? 

The policy also aims to prioritise council tenancy complaints into three categories, giving 
examples for each. The category will determine the response time from 24 hours for the 
highest priority to 10 working days for those considered to be lower priority. The policy also 
includes an Appendix which assists as a ‘score card’ for the complainant to complete which 
will assist in the categorisation/prioritisation of the issue of concern. As a result of discussions 
with the partner agencies, Community Cohesion and Community Safety, the matrix mirrors 
that utilised by the Police and all concerned are in agreement with this approach. 
The priorities are based on the following principles; 
Proportionality – any action that we take will relate to the seriousness of the behaviour and 
its effects on individuals and the community. 

Consistency – we will ensure that officers take a consistent approach when dealing with anti-
social behaviour. 
Transparency – we will help people to understand what the tenancy agreement and law 
requires of them and make clear what needs to be done. 
Targeting – enforcement will be directed against those whose activities pose the most 
serious harm to individuals or communities. 

Conclusion  
Anti-social behaviour can have a detrimental effect on the health and wellbeing of individuals. 
Partnership working and local intelligence will continue to take place to prevent an escalation 
of incidents into anti-social behaviour, where possible. The Policy has been collated, 
however, to ensure that where cases are raised, appropriate, proportionate and targeted 

Tudalen 92



 

actions are implemented to find appropriate resolutions.  
Officers record each service complaint and update accordingly which will allow the service to 
monitor progress and outcomes. 

Recommendation 
The policy be accepted and approved. 
 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED ? YES  

Tudalen 93



 

IMPLICATIONS 
 

 

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / Heads 

of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this report : 

 

Signed:  Jonathan Morgan              Head of Homes and Safer Communities                             

 

Policy, Crime 
& Disorder 
and 
Equalities 
 

Legal  Finance  ICT  Risk 
Management 
Issues  

Staffing 
Implications 

Physical 
Assets   

NONE NONE  NONE  NONE  NONE  NONE  NONE  

 

CONSULTATIONS 
 

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below 

 

Signed: Jonathan Morgan                 Head of Homes and Safer Communities                                                 

 

1. Scrutiny Committee 

Community and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee was consulted on 1st July 2021 when it was  

UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED to recommend to the Executive Board/Council that the Policy for 
Anti-Social Behaviour and Breaches of Tenancy 2021 be approved. 

 

2.Local Member(s) – N/A 

3.Community / Town Council – N/A 

4.Relevant Partners – N/A 

5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations – N/A   

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD PORTFOLIO 

HOLDER(S) AWARE/CONSULTED: 

YES 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 

List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 

THERE ARE NONE   

 
 

Tudalen 94



 
 

POLICY FOR ANTI SOCIAL 
BEHAVIOUR AND BREACHES OF 

TENANCY 2021 
 

PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICES 
NEIGHBOURHOOD TEAM 

  

carmarthenshire.gov.wales 

Tudalen 95



 

 
Contents 

 

 

Purpose & Scope   ………………………………………………………. 1 

 

Application of Policy   ……………………………………………………. 1 & 2 

 

Preventing ASB…………………………………………………………… 2 

 

Reporting ASB   ……………………………………………………………2 & 3 

 

Supporting Victims & Witnesses   ……………………………………… 3 

 

Tenancy Conditions   ……………………………………………………...3 & 4 

 

Categories of ASB   ……………………………………………………….4 & 5  

 

Remedies of ASB   ………………………………………………………. 5 & 6 

 

Appendix 1 – Assessing Each Case   …………………………………. 7,8 & 9 

 

Actions to be Taken   ……………………………………………………. 10 

 

Tudalen 96



 1 

 

CARMARTHENSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
POLICY FOR ANTI SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR AND BREACHES OF TENANCY 2021 

PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICES – NEIGHBOURHOOD TEAM 
 

 

Purpose 
 
This policy sets out the approach to be adopted by the Neighbourhood Team in 
Environmental Protection with regards to dealing with complaints of anti-social behaviour 
and tenancy issues relating to Council Housing properties only. This will include taking 
formal action against council tenants that are causing antisocial behaviour to other tenures 
in the area. 
 

Scope 
 
The principles and terms of this policy will apply to the Safer Neighbourhood Team. The 
team will ensure ASB or breaches of tenancy are investigated in accordance with legal 
requirements, and will comply with the following principles: 
 
Proportionality – any action that we take will relate to the seriousness of the behaviour and 
its effects on individuals and the community. 
Consistency – we will ensure that officers take a consistent approach when dealing with 
ASB. 
Transparency – we will help people to understand what the tenancy agreement and law 
requires of them and make clear what needs to be done. 
Targeting – enforcement will be directed against those whose activities pose the most 
serious harm to individuals or communities. 
 

Application of the policy 
 
Anti-Social Behaviour is defined in the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 as: 
 

- Conduct that has caused, or is likely to cause, harassments, alarm or distress to any person; 

- Conduct capable of causing a nuisance or annoyance to a person in relation to that person’s 

occupation or residential premises or; 

- Conduct capable of causing housing-related nuisance or annoyance to any person. 

 

Examples of the anti-social behaviour that the team will deal with include: 
 

- Excessive noise (unless considered a Statutory Nuisance by Environmental Health); 

- Alcohol related incidents; 

- Nuisance from vehicles – noise / parking / excess number of vehicles / repair work etc; 

- Intimidation / threatening acts or behaviour; 

- Harassment; 

- Garden conditions – waste / overgrowth / boundary disputes; 

- Drugs / substance misuse / drug dealing / cultivation; 

- Vandalism / other criminal behaviour; 

Tudalen 97



 2 

- Domestic violence / abuse – using referrals to other support agencies; 

- Verbal or physical abuse / violence towards others; 

- Pets / animal nuisance – too many pets / inappropriate type or number for property;  

- Misuse of communal areas – storage / fire safety concerns; 

- Litter / rubbish / fly tipping – at property or in wider estate; 

- Vehicle obstruction – as above, relating to parking issues; 

- Hate related incidents – working in partnership with the police; and 

- Prostitution / sexual acts / curb crawling. 

Examples of cases that may not be classed as anti-social behaviour include: 
 

- People walking across the floor in shoes (in a property with poor sound insulation / 

adequate floor coverings) – formal action not appropriate as considered reasonable day to 

day living noises; 

- Children playing in the street where no damage has occurred, perception maybe causing a 

nuisance; 

- Intolerance to normal lifestyle issues – clash of lifestyles / personalities / cultures; 

- Pets straying across gardens i.e., cats, which are entitled to roam (dogs are dealt with under 

tenancy conditions or dog warden service); 

- Staring or looking at someone, can be a perception issue (unless harassment);  

- One off events, such as a party (possibly words of advice only); 

- 1 to 1 disputes or personal disputes where no breach of tenancy has occurred; and 

- Problems arising from conflicts of lifestyle, such as shift work (could offer mediation if 

needed). 

In these cases, we may provide advice and guidance, but it will be at the officer’s discretion. 
 

Preventing Anti-Social Behaviour 
 
The team is committed to preventing and dealing with cases of anti-social behaviour. The 
following approaches will be used: 
 

- Explaining and enforcing tenancy conditions to residents; 

- Investing in our communities to prevent anti-social behaviour; 

- Working with partner agencies; 

- Marketing and promotion of services and outcomes to encourage victims to report incidents 

as well as discourage potential perpetrators; and 

- Share information with other agencies and partners. 

Reporting of Anti-Social Behaviour 
 
Cases can be reported by: 
 

- Telephone (please see below for further details) 

- Email; 

- Letter; 

- Website; and 

- In person or through third parties. 

 

Tudalen 98



 3 

Further contact information 
- General Anti Social Behaviour enquiries during normal office hours through Contact Centre 

(01267 234567) 

- Councillor enquiries during normal office hours through the Democratic Services 

- Anti Social Behaviour enquiries outside normal working hours through Delta Wellbeing 

which provides an emergency service on 0300 333 2222. This phone number is for 

emergencies and is available after 6:00pm and up until 8:30am on weekdays, and on 

Saturdays, Sundays and Bank Holidays. 

- Anti Social Behaviour that is a serious risk to life is to be reported to the Police on 101 or 999 

 
The team will investigate all cases of anti-social behaviour but will prioritise cases in line 
with our priority matrix and officer’s discretion.  
 
Anonymous complaints will be investigated when possible and dealt with at the officer’s 
discretion. Anonymous complaints are difficult to investigate as there is no one to gather 
evidence from or feedback to. There is also no ability to use an anonymous complainant as 
part of our evidence should Court action be required.  
 
All cases will be treated fairly, recorded and monitored, and regular updates will be 
provided as the case progresses. 
 

Supporting victims and witnesses 
 
This is essential in helping to deal with allegations of anti-social behaviour. The team will: 
 

- Adopt a victim centred approach; 

- Assess the level of risk to victims and make appropriate plans to ensure their safety; 

- Work with other agencies to resolve problems as quickly as possible; 

- Provide support or refer for specific victim support services, internal and external; 

- Consider legal sanctions to protect victims where an immediate risk is identified; 

- Make regular contact with victims and witnesses; 

- Consider improving home security by providing extra measures such as additional locks, 

security chains, alarms for properties; and 

- Rehouse victims in exceptional circumstances, such as when an immediate threat or risk of 

harm to the victim is present which cannot be removed in any other way. 

Tenancy Conditions 
 
The tenancy agreement sets out the contractual obligations of the tenant and the Council.  
 
The agreement requires tenants to act in a reasonable manner and not do to anything that 
causes nuisance or annoyance to other people. 
 
Anti-social behaviour in any form (by tenants or those who live with them, and visitors) is 
considered a breach of the tenancy agreement and will not be tolerated. 
 

Tudalen 99



 4 

ASB / Tenancy breaches will be categorised and prioritised by the team using the table 
below. In addition, the scorecard in Appendix 1 can be used to assess the urgency a case is 
dealt with. 
 

Prioritising complaints 
 
The team will prioritise complaints under three categories: 
 
Category A - Urgent or serious issues  
 

- Hate crimes; 

- Sexual abuse and offences; 

- Aggressive / abusive neighbours; 

- Drug dealing / complaints / warrants; 

- Criminal activity – in partnership with the Police; 

- Perceived hate crimes - in partnership with the Police; 

- Violence – between families or neighbouring properties; 

- Domestic violence – linked with other agencies; and 

- Any other complaints the officer deems to be urgent or serious. 

These cases will be dealt with as quickly as possible (aim to contact within 24 hours) 
 
Category B – serious issues 
 

- Noise - (to also include cases being investigated under Statutory nuisance legislation with 

Environmental Health); 

- Drug and substance misuse (e.g., personal cannabis use) where there is a nuisance to 

neighbours. 

- Verbal abuse towards staff, neighbours or wider community; 

- Alcohol related nuisance; 

- Prostitution (misuse of property or wider community); 

- Intimidation towards others; 

- Criminal damage to other property; 

- Nuisance being caused in the communal areas e.g., congregating / storing items; 

- Waste stored at the property or garden (working alongside Public Health team); 

- No access issues; and 

- Any other complaints the officer deems to be serious from Category C.  

Officers will aim to contact within 5 working days 
 
Category C – low level 
 

- Drug and substance misuse (e.g., personal cannabis use;) where not causing nuisance/no 

direct impact on neighbours; 

- Caravans being kept at people’s properties or within the estate without permission; 

- Garden conditions – overgrown and unkempt; 

- Parking issues – obstructions or number of vehicles without permission; 

- Animals – inappropriate pets or number of animals kept at the property (unless causing 

nuisance to neighbours which will fall under discretion of officer to upgrade to Category B); 

Tudalen 100



 5 

- Unsuitable vehicles on estate e.g., trailers / heavy goods vehicles in line with tenancy 

agreement; 

- Low level damage to property, internal and external; 

- Children causing a nuisance to the community (discretion of officers);  

- Communal area problems e.g., arguments over communal gardens / leaving doors open 

(discretion of officers); 

- Repairing vehicles / operating a business in line with tenancy agreement; 

- Works carried out to the property without permission; and 

- Cases where there is no complainant involved (anonymous). 

Officers will aim to contact within 10 working days 
 
The timescales will be monitored and reviewed periodically 
 

 
 
 
Remedies of Anti-Social Behaviour 
 
Our policy commits to trying to reach a fair and lasting solution to ASB problems as quickly 
as possible. In lower-level cases officers will try using low level informal action, but if this is 
ineffective stronger measures will be considered. 
 
There are several options available to the team, and staff will consider the most appropriate 
action in each case.  
 
Enforcement action will be taken when necessary, such as when cases are serious, or when 
instances of anti-social behaviour continue, and other solutions have been identified and 
exhausted. 
 
Legal remedies may include: 
 

- Discussions with concerned parties; 

- Warning letters; 

- Mediation; 

- Injunctions; 

- Demotion orders; 

- Suspended demotion orders; 

- Eviction / possession proceedings; 

- Action against a starter tenancy; 

- Community Protection Notices / Fixed penalty notices; 

- Closure orders; 

- Relocation (as a last resort); 

- Referral to other agencies / services; and 

- Legal action by others e.g., Environmental Health 

It is recognised that sometimes we may not be able to resolve anti-social behaviour 
complaints to the satisfaction of all parties. If, after careful investigation and agreement 

Tudalen 101



 6 

with senior officers that anti-social behaviour is un-actionable, we will let the complainant 
and perpetrator know. 
 

Actions for other types of tenancy 
 
Disputes in relation to tenants within the private sector, Housing Association properties or 
private owners will initially be reported to the Police (private tenants / owners). Some 
Housing Association tenants can report to their agencies’ own ASB officers or the police. 
 
The Authority’s own Anti- Social Behaviour Coordinator can also provide additional support 
and advice to affected parties of private owners or housing association tenants, working in 
partnership with the police to help resolve any issues. 
 
If a Council tenant is suffering from antisocial behaviour from another private property or 
housing association property, officers will link in with the police and the Anti-Social 
Behaviour Coordinator to help resolve the matter. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 102



 7 

Appendix 1 - Assessing each case 
 

The below scorecard will be used to determine whether your complaint is considered as 
high, medium, or low risk. 
 
 

Other than this occasion how often do you have 
problems? 

Most days 
Most weeks 
Most months 
Only occasionally  

3 
2 
1 
0 

Do you think this incident is linked to previous 
incidents? 

Yes 
No 

2 
0 

Do you think that incidents are happening more 
often and/or are getting worse? 

Yes 
No 

2 
0 

Do you know the offender/s? They know each other 
well 
They are known to each 
other 
They do not know each 
other 

2 
 
1 
 
0 

Does the perpetrator have a history or reputation 
for intimidation or harassment? 

Perpetrator currently 
harassing complainant 
Perpetrator have 
harassed complainant 
in the past 
Perpetrator have not 
harassed the 
complainant, but have 
a history or reputation 
for harassment or 
violence 
Perpetrator have no 
history or reputation 
for harassment or 
violence 
 

6 
 
4 
 
 
2 
 
 
 
 
0 

Have you informed any other agencies about what 
has happened, if yes, are you happy for us to 
discuss the problem with them? 
 
Agency details: 
 

Yes 
No 

0 
1 

Which of the following do you think that this 
incident deliberately targeted? 

You 
Your family 
Your community 
None 

4 
3 
1 
0 

Tudalen 103



 8 

Do you feel that this incident is associated with 
your faith, nationality, ethnicity, sexuality, gender 
or disability? 

Yes 
No 

3 
0 

In addition to what has happened, do you feel that 
there is anything that is increasing you or your 
household’s personal risk? 

Yes 
No 

3 
0 

How affected do you feel by what has happened? Not at all 
Affected a little 
Moderately affected 
Affected a lot 
Extremely affected 

0 
1 
2 
3 
5 

Has yours or anyone’s health been affected as a 
result of this and any previous incidents? 
If yes, details: 
 
 

Yes 
No 

3 
0 

Do you have a social worker, health visitor or any 
other type of professional support, can we speak 
to them about this? 
If yes, details: 
 
 

No 
Yes 

0 
1 

Do you have any friends and family to support 
you? 

Complainant lives alone 
and is isolated 
Complainant is isolated 
from people who can 
offer support 
Complainant has a few 
people to draw on for 
support 
Complainant has a 
close network of 
people for support 

3 
 
3 
 
 
1 
 
 
0 

Apart from any effect on you, do you think anyone 
else has been affected by what has happened? 

No one else 
Your family 
Local Community 
Other 

0 
1 
3 

Total score   

   

 
 
Based on these factors and your own judgement, adjust the scoring accordingly 
 
Low 0  4 8 12 16 20 22 24 26 28 30  High 
 
 
0 – 15 = low risk  16 – 28 = medium risk  29 – 41 = high risk 
 

Tudalen 104



 9 

The agencies listed below are there as a guide and should be used in conjunction with other 
local resources and your own judgement of what support and protection are required. All 
action taken as a result of your assessment should be discussed with the witness. 
  

Tudalen 105



 10 

 
Actions to be taken  
 
Safer Neighbourhood Team: 
 
 
 
Environmental Health: 
 
 
 
Other Local Authority depts.:  
 
 
 
Police: 
 
 
 
Other support services: 
 
 
 
I consent to agencies obtaining and sharing information as part of the multi-agency work to 
help and secure my safety and that of my family. 
 
If there are child protection concerns, information will be shared regardless of whether this 
form I signed 
 
Signature:      Date: 
 
 
 
Print name:                   
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Tudalen 106



 

 
 

 

SAFLE DATBLYGU 4, PORTH TYWYN  
 

Yr argymhellion / penderfyniadau allweddol sydd eu hangen: 
Gofynnir i'r Bwrdd Gweithredol gymeradwyo gwaredu Safle 4, Porth Tywyn, drwy weithdrefn 
gaffael agored, er mwyn darparu cynllun hamdden masnachol.  

 
Argymhellir bod y Cyngor yn gwaredu'r tir, drwy weithdrefn gaffael agored, i ddarparu cynllun 
datblygu masnachol a arweinir gan hamdden a bod awdurdod dirprwyedig yn cael ei roi i'r 
Pennaeth Adfywio, mewn ymgynghoriad ag Aelod y Bwrdd Gweithredol dros Adnoddau, i 
drafod a dogfennu telerau priodol ar gyfer gwerthu'r tir. 

Y Rhesymau:  
• Hyrwyddo a hwyluso datblygu tir, sydd yn eiddo i'r Cyngor a Llywodraeth Cymru, fel 

rhan o Fenter ar y cyd Morlan Elli, er mwyn cefnogi'r dyheadau adfywio ar gyfer Porth 
Tywyn 

• Mae adfywio'r safle hwn yn allweddol i gyflawni prif gynllun Porth Tywyn, gan ddarparu 

cymysgedd o ddefnyddiau hamdden masnachol a fydd yn ychwanegu at les 
economaidd Porth Tywyn a'r hyn a gynigir gan y dref o ran hamdden a thwristiaeth. 

• Creu dros 100 o swyddi newydd, gyda'r cyfanswm yn dibynnu ar y cynllun terfynol. 

• Creu derbyniad cyfalaf ar gyfer y cronfa Menter ar y cyd Morlan Elli. 

 
Angen ymgynghori â'r Pwyllgor Craffu perthnasol  Nac Oes 

Angen i’r Bwrdd Gweithredol wneud penderfyniad         OES  

Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad NAC OES  

YR AELOD O'R BWRDD GWEITHREDOL SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:- Y 
Cynghorydd David Jenkins  
(Yr Aelod o’r Bwrdd Gweithredol dros Adnoddau) 

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth: 

Enw Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth: 

Jason Jones  

Awdur yr Adroddiad: 

Katie Crane-Davis 

 

Swyddi:  

 

Pennaeth Adfywio 

 

Syrfëwr Rheoli Asedau   

 
 
 
 
JaJones@sirgar.gov.uk 
01267 242336 
 
 

kmcrane@sirgar.gov.uk 
01267 246255 

 
  

Bwrdd Gweithredol 
26 Gorffennaf, 2021  

Tudalen 107

Eitem Rhif  9

mailto:JaJones@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
mailto:kmcrane@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
EXECUTIVE BOARD 

26TH JULY 2021 
 

DEVELOPMENT OF SITE 4, BURRY PORT  

 
Background Information 
 
The development site of 2.8 acres, shown in the document in Appendix 1, is a key element of 
the Council’s regeneration aspirations for Burry Port and forms part of the Burry Port 
Masterplan.  The ultimate objective of the Masterplan is to ensure the future wellbeing of Burry 
Port and its surrounding areas by creating residential, leisure and employment developments, 
which will promote Burry Port as a place to visit, live and work in. The document in Appendix 1 
sets out additional background information regarding the subject site and the Council’s wider 
Burry Port Masterplan aspirations. 
 
The site benefits from outline planning permission (reference no. S/30597) for ‘Commercial 
leisure development comprising a mix of retail, hotel, pub/restaurant and residential uses’.  
 
The Council and Welsh Government Joint Venture wish to retain an element of control over the 
quality and delivery of the development, to ensure that the scheme is aligned with the outline 
planning permission and wider regeneration aspirations for Burry Port. As this will need to be 
reflected in the contractual terms and the cost of works are likely to exceed the public 
procurement threshold of £4,733,252, we have been advised by the Council’s Legal Section, 
that the transaction falls under the scope of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and 
requires an open procurement procedure to select the developer. 
 
The Council could decide not to sell the site at this time but due to the timeframes set out within 
the outline planning applications, it is advised that a disposal is progressed. A Reserved 
Matters application with details of the proposed scheme will need to be submitted by November 
2022. Alternatively, the Council could decide to proceed with a land transaction rather than sale 
via Public Procurement, but this would mean that once sold, the Council would have no control 
over the delivery of the scheme, other than via the planning process. 
 
The Development 
 
Development proposals should have full regard to the site’s prominent position within the 
marina, providing sufficient character to create a place with its own identity but also benefiting 
the current and proposed facilities within the harbour and Millennium Coastal Park.  
 
The development must create added value, complimenting the offerings of the town centre and 
contributing to the vitality and viability of the Burry Port area, including job creation, and 
promoting tourism. Proposals will need to include an appropriate mix of land uses consistent 
with the planning permission and aspirations for the site. 
 

 
  

Tudalen 108



 

 

Recommendations 
 
The subject land forms part of the Burry Port Masterplan. The Council’s Acquisition and 
Disposal of Property Policy requires Executive Board approval for the disposal of Strategic 
land.  
 
It is recommended that the Council disposes the land, through an open procurement 
procedure, to deliver a commercial leisure led development scheme and that delegated 
authority is granted to the Head of Regeneration, in consultation with the Executive Board 
Member for Resources, to negotiate and document appropriate terms for the sale of the land. 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? NO 

 

 
 

  

Tudalen 109



 

IMPLICATIONS 

 
 

  

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with 
this report: 

 

Signed:    Jason Jones                                                         Head of Regeneration                             

 
Policy, Crime & 
Disorder and 
Equalities 

Legal 

 
Finance 

 
ICT 

 
Risk 
Management 
Issues 

 

 

Staffing 
Implications 

 

Physical 
Assets  

 

YES  

 
YES  YES  NONE YES  NONE 

 
YES  

1. Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities 

 

The development scheme will contribute towards the Goals and Ways of Working within the 
Well-being of Future Generations Act and the Council’s Well-being Objectives.  The site will 
support the retention and creation of jobs, including apprenticeships and training 
opportunities, through the development.  The scheme will add to the economic well-being of 
Burry Port and to the leisure and tourism offer of the town, whilst also striving to create a 
resilient and sustainable community. 
 
The development of Site 4, in conjunction with the wider masterplan for Burry Port, will 
encourage urban living and utilisation of local offerings.  The proximity of the site to the 
Millennium Coastal Path will encourage residents to utilise the local facilities to improve their 
health and wellbeing. 

 

The Council will seek to maximise community benefits through the procurement process.  

 

The Well-being of Future Generations Act Goals and Ways of Working and the Council’s 
Well-being Objectives will be considered in further detail, as part of the procurement 
procedure. 

 

The delivery of the site also supports the Carmarthenshire Economic Recovery and 
Delivery Plan (April 2021) and Carmarthenshire County Council’s Transformations Strategy 
which identifies six key transformational projects, including Carmarthenshire Coastal Belt 
and Burry Port 

 

Tudalen 110



 

2. Legal   

 
As the Council and Welsh Government Joint Venture would want to retain an element of 
control over the quality and delivery of the development and the cost of works are likely to 
exceed the public procurement threshold of £4,733,252, we have been advised by the 
Council’s Legal Section, that the transaction falls under the scope of the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 and requires an open procurement procedure to select the developer. 

 

The disposal of the land will require appropriate legal documentation that will need to 
reflect the specific terms of sale to be agreed via the procurement process, ensuring the 
Council’s best interests are maintained. 

 

3. Finance   

 

The disposal of the land will provide a capital receipt for the Llanelli Waterside Joint 
Venture to support further regeneration of South Llanelli.  

 

5. Risk Management Issues 

 
A risk analysis will be carried out, as part of the procurement requirements, to identify risks 
associated with the delivery of the scheme, with controls in place to ensure development 
objectives are met within appropriate timescales.  
 
In addition to this, the Council’s Principal Risk Officer will be asked to advise on minimum 
levels of indemnity for Employers Liability Insurance, Public Liability Insurance including 
Products Liability and Professional Indemnity, to be included within the Procurement and 
Legal documentation. 
 
6. Physical Assets   

 

If disposal of the site is approved, a commercial leisure led development scheme will be 
delivered by a private sector developer, to support the aspirations of the Burry Port 
Masterplan. Future management and maintenance of the site will be the responsibility of the 
developer. 

 

 
 
 

Tudalen 111



 

CONSULTATIONS 
 

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below 

 

Signed:    Jason Jones                                                              Head of Regeneration                                                

 
1. Scrutiny Committee 

n/a 

 

2.Local Member(s)   

Local Members have been regularly updated on proposals that form part of the Burry Port 
Masterplan. Further consultation is currently being carried out in relation to Site 4.    

 

3.Community / Town Council  

n/a 

 

4.Relevant Partners   

Meetings with the Llanelli Waterside Joint Venture Partner, Welsh Government, are held 
regularly to monitor progress and agree actions. 

 

5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations   

n/a 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER(S) AWARE/CONSULTED  

Yes 

Include any observations here 

 

 
 

 
 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
 

THERE ARE NONE   

Tudalen 112



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

       

       
      MIXED USE DEVELOPMENT OPPORTUNITY         

      SITE 4, BURRY PORT  
 
  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
     
 

 
 
 

  SUMMARY 

• 1.12 hectare / 2.8 acre brownfield development site 

• Marina location 

• Commercial, leisure and residential opportunity 

• Outline planning permission granted  

 

 

 

Tudalen 113



 

 

  

 

 
  

BURRY PORT MASTERPLAN 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

  
 

 

 

Introduction 

The transformation of Burry Port is underway and 

already a number of exciting developments are 

being delivered, with more in the pipeline. 

Burry Port offers 14 miles of landscaped parkland, 

with stunning views of the Gower Peninsula and 

Carmarthen Bay, providing an ideal base for 

exploring the South and West Wales coastline.  

The regeneration of Burry Port Harbour is a major 

project supported by the Llanelli Waterside Joint 

Venture between Carmarthenshire County 

Council and Welsh Government. Investment has 

already been made in infrastructure and 

transport to make the area more accessible and 

to strengthen the link between the Millennium 

Coastal Path and town centre.  
 

 

 

The masterplan of the area provides diverse 

development opportunities for commercial, retail, 

leisure and tourism, alongside new residential units. 

Recent and future developments opportunities 

include: 

Ysgol Parc y Twyn 

The new £9.6 million state-of the-art Parc y Tywyn 

School has recently been completed, providing 

spacious and inspiring places to learn, within a 

building of the highest energy standards, providing 

Passivhaus and BREEAM Excellent status. 

Glanmor Terrace Development Site 

The Council’s Homes & Safer Communities Section 

are currently delivering a scheme of 32 eco-friendly 

homes, following a £4million funding package 

secured from Welsh Government. 

 

 

 

Tudalen 114



 

 

 

 

New RNLI Building 

The new Lifeboat Station, located on the harbour 

front, offers major improvements for the RNLI crew 

and members of the public.  

The building, which has been equipped with solar 

panels and ground source heating, will now house 

the two lifeboats in the same building.  

 
 
Enterprise Village  

The site will provide 10,500 sq m of employment 

space with an element of live work units and 

possible marine related uses to support and 

promote harbour activity. 
 

  

 

Marina  

Burry Port Marina offers 450 berths, enabling 

year-round cruising along the beautiful coastline. 

The marina is managed by The Marine Group and 

as part of the wider masterplan for the harbour, 

further plans are in place to upgrade and 

redevelop the marina area. 

Planning permission has recently been granted 

for conversion of the former RNLI lifeboat station 

to a new marina offices and shower/toilet 

facilities. 

 
Residential Site 

The Grillo site at Burry Port was recently 

acquired by the Council to facilitate delivery of a 

residential scheme with the adjacent land held 

by the Llanelli Waterside Joint Venture.  The first 

phase of this development will regenerate a 

brownfield site of 12.9 acres to provide 

approximately 320 residential dwellings and 465 

sq m (5,005 sq ft) of retail and leisure use, further 

enhancing and complementing the offering at 

Burry Port Harbour. 

A further, adjacent site of approximately 2.28 

acres will be brought forward as a second phase 

to provide circa 40 residential units 

 
 

 

Tudalen 115



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Document is Restricted

Tudalen 117

Eitem Rhif  12



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Document is Restricted

Tudalen 123



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol


	Agenda
	3 LLOFNODI FEL COFNOD CYWIR COFNODION CYFARFOD Y BWRDD GWEITHREDOL A GYNHALWYD AR Y 5ED GORFFENNAF, 2021
	6 RHAGOLWG CYLLIDEB REFENIW 2022/23 I 2024/25
	Adroddiad
	Atodiad

	7 ADRODDIAD BLYNYDDOL CYFARWYDDWR STATUDOL GWASANAETHAU CYMDEITHASOL
	Adroddiad

	8 POLISI YMDDYGIAD GWRTHGYMDEITHASOL A THORRI AMODAU TENANTIAETH 2021
	Adroddiad

	9 PORTH TYWYN - SAFLE DATBLYGU 4
	Burry Port - Appendix - NEW

	12 GWERTHU TIR YM MHARC PENCRUG, LLANDEILO
	Pencrug Plan - NEW


